

Retirement Plan Participation and Retirees' Perception of Their Standard of Living *By Craig Copeland, EBRI*

- *SIPP data and retirement plan coverage*—This *Issue Brief* focuses on a critical factor in retirement security: the presence of income or assets from an employment-based retirement plan. It is the third in a series of EBRI publications based on the Retirement and Pension Plan Coverage Topical Module of the 2001 Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), which has a wealth of data on workers' participation in these plans as well as the plans' characteristics and features. This report examines SIPP's more detailed questions concerning workers' participation in employment-based and other retirement plans.
- *Sponsorship, participation, and vested rates*—As of 2003, 67.3 percent of wage and salary workers age 16 or older worked for an employer or union that sponsored any type of retirement plan (defined contribution or defined benefit) for its employees or members (the "sponsorship rate"). Almost 51 percent of the wage and salary workers participated in a plan (the "participation level"), with 46.8 percent being entitled to a benefit or eligible to receive a lump-sum distribution from a plan if their job terminated at the time of survey (the "vested rate").
- *IRAs raise retirement coverage rate*—When workers who are participating in a current or previous job's plan are added to those who own an individual retirement account (IRA) or Keogh, the proportion of all workers who had some type of retirement plan in 2003 is 55.1 percent. Among workers ages 51–60, 69.4 percent had some form of retirement plan, and individuals with 15 or more years of tenure in a job had a 75.3 percent probability of having a plan.
- *Lump-sum distributions*—Through 2003, 46.7 percent of those taking a lump-sum distribution used at least some portion of the money for tax-qualified savings (another employment-based plan, IRA, or annuity), while 21.6 percent used at least some portion of it for consumption. The other most prevalent uses were buying a home, paying off debt, or starting a business (32.0 percent of lump-sum recipients used their distributions for these reasons).
- *Standard of living in retirement*—A significantly higher percentage of those who spent their lump-sum distributions entirely reported their standard of living as being somewhat or much worse than was reported by those who had rolled over their entire distribution (24.5 percent compared with 16.2 percent). In both cases the percentage who reported being much worse was fairly small, but the consequences of spending lump-sum distributions highlight the fact that those who took a lump-sum distribution and spent it entirely were approximately 50 percent more likely to describe their standard of living as being somewhat or much worse than was reported by all of those age 55 or older who rolled over their assets.

Craig Copeland of EBRI wrote this *Issue Brief* with assistance from the Institute's research and editorial staffs. Any views expressed in this report are those of the author and should not be ascribed to the officers, trustees, or other sponsors of EBRI, EBRI-ERF, or their staffs. Neither EBRI nor EBRI-ERF lobbies or takes positions on specific policy proposals. EBRI invites comment on this research.

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Employment-Based Plans	4
Salary Reduction Plans	5
Direct Investment	7
Employer Contributions	7
Retirement Plan History	11
Lump-Sum Distributions	18
Standard of Living	23
Conclusion	31
Appendix	32
References	38
Endnotes	39

Figures

Figure 1, Percentage of Wage and Salary Workers Who Participate in an Employment-Based	
Retirement Plan and Percentage of Those Participating in Each Plan Type, 2003	6
Figure 2, Percentage of Wage and Salary Workers Who Participate in a Salary Reduction Plan and	
Reasons for Not Participating in a Sponsored Plan, 2003	8
Figure 3, Percentage of Salary Reduction Plan Participants Age 16 or Older Who Can Direct	
Investments and Percentage Whose Employer Contributes to Their Plan, by Various	
Characteristics, 2003	. 10
Figure 4, Percentage of All Wage and Salary Workers Age 16 or Older Who Participate in a Current	t
Job's Employment-Based Retirement Plan, Participate in More Than One Plan in a Current Job,	
Have Retirement Plan Benefits From a Former Job, Have Ever Participated in a Plan, by Various	S
Characteristics, 1998 and 2003	. 12
Figure 5, Percentage of All Workers Age 16 or Older Who Have an IRA or Keogh Plan in Their Ow	'n
Name and Who Contributed to the Plans, by Various Characteristics, 1997 and 2002	14
Figure 6, Percentage of All Workers Age 16 or Older Who Currently Participate in Some Type of	
Retirement Plan or Have Ever Participated in Some Type of Retirement Plan, by Various	
Characteristics, 1998 and 2003	. 16
Figure 7, Number, Mean Amount, Median Amount, and Source of Most Recent Lump-Sum	
Distributions, 2003	. 18
Figure 8, How Was the Lump-Sum Withdrawn and Where Was the Lump-Sum Rolled Over to for	
the Most Recent Lump-Sum Distributions, 2003	. 19
Figure 9, Uses of Any Portion of Americans' Most Recent Lump-Sum Distributions, 2003	21
Figure 10, Uses of Entire Portion of Americans' Most Recent Lump-Sum Distributions, 2003	22
Figure 11, Percentage of Former Participants in an Employment-Based Retirement Plan Who Either	
Took a Lump-Sum Distribution or Retained Their Benefits in Their Previous Job's Plan, 2003	24

Figure 12, Percentage of Individuals Who Had a Retirement Plan at a Previous Job Who Took a	
Lump-Sum Distribution versus Leaving the Assets in the Plan, by the Value of the Distribution	
and the Current Plan Balance, 2003	. 24
Figure 13, Self-Reported Standard of Living Among All Americans and Retirees Age 55 and Older.	
Relative to When They Were Ages 50–54, 2003	. 25
Figure 14, Self-Reported Standard of Living Among Americans Age 55 or Older Relative to When	
They Were Ages 50–54, by Various Demographic Characteristics, 2003	. 25
Figure 15, Americans Age 55 or Older Who Said They Have Retired From a Job Self-Reported	
Standard of Living Relative to When They Were Ages 50–54, by Various Demographic	
Characteristics, 2003	. 26
Figure 16, Percentage of Americans Age 55 or Older Who Have Pension Income or Health Insurance	e
From a Former Employer in Own Name, by Retirement Status and Various Demographic	
Characteristics, 2003	. 27
Figure 17, Percentage of Those Age 55 or Older Who Said They Have Retired From a Job and Have	:
Pension Income, by Self-Reported Standard Living Relative to When They Were Ages 50-54,	
2003	. 29
Figure 18, Percentage of Those Age 55 or Older Who Said They Have Retired From a Job and Have	;
Health Insurance From a Former Employer, by Self-Reported Standard of Living Relative to	
When They Were Ages 50–54, 2003	. 29
Figure 19, Americans Age 55 and Older Self-Reported Standard of Living Relative to When They	
Were Age 50–54, by Use of Most Recent Lump-Sum Distribution, 2003	. 30
Figure 20, Reduction in Median Percentage of Additional Compensation That Must Be Saved	
Annually Until Retirement for a 75% Chance of Covering Simulated Expense, as a Result of	•
Annuitizing All Individual Accounts at Retirement.	. 30
Figure A1, Civilian Nonagricultural Wage and Salary Workers, Aged 16 and Over, Sponsorship Rate	e
and Participation Rate, by Various Characteristics, 1988, 1993, 1998, and 2003	. 33
Figure A2, Reported Primary Retirement Plan Type Among Civilian Nonagricultural Wage and Sala	ıry
Workers, Age 16 and Over, Who Participate in a Retirement Plan, by Selected Demographic	24
Characteristics, 1988, 1993, 1998, and 2003	. 34
Figure A3, Salary Reduction Plan Sponsorship Rate, Participation Rate, and Percentage the Plan Is	
Primary Among Civilian Nonagricultural wage and Salary workers Age 10 and Over, 1988,	25
1995, 1996, and 2005	. 33 and
Figure A4, Average Employee Contribution Rate to Salary Reduction Flans, Nonagricultural wage a	1110 26
Figure A5 Percentage of Wage and Salary Workers Ages 21-64 Participating in an Employment.	. 50
Based Pension or Retirement Plan 1992–2000 and February 1995–February 2001	37
Eusear ension of reentement run, 1992 2000 und reordury 1995 reordury 2001	

Introduction

An important issue facing all Americans is the degree of financial security that they have or will have in retirement. This *Issue Brief* focuses on a critical factor in retirement security: the presence of income or assets from an employment-based retirement plan. It is the third in a series of Employee Benefit Research Institute (EBRI) publications based on the Retirement and Pension Plan Coverage Topical Module of the 2001 Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), which has a wealth of data on workers' participation in these plans as well as the plans' characteristics and features. The first publication focused on "top-line" results on overall participation in employment-based plans and type of plan (defined benefit or

defined contribution) the participants deemed to be their primary plan (Copeland, 2005c); it also examined contributions to salary reduction or 401(k)-type plans. The second publication focused on individuals' decisions on the uses of lump-sum distributions and on the factors determining these decisions (Copeland, 2005a).

This report completes the analysis by examining the survey's more detailed questions concerning workers' participation in employment-based and other retirement plans. The first section determines not only the percentage of workers who are participating in an employment-based retirement plan but also a breakdown of which type of plans they are in regardless of what they consider to be their primary plan. The next section focuses more specifically on participation in salary reduction or 401(k)-type plans. It also explores workers' reasons for *not* participating in a salary reduction plan when working in a job where a plan is sponsored. A discussion of the features or decisions made in salary reduction plans (such as the ability to direct investments and whether the employer contributes) concludes the section.

Since most workers have more than one job during their career, their access to and decision to participate in an employment-based plan will vary across these jobs. Consequently, historical participation in employment-based retirement plans is examined to determine the probability that a worker has ever participated in a plan. An important component of lifetime participation in employment-based retirement plans is the individual retirement account (IRA), as these accounts hold many assets from the employmentbased plans of workers who change jobs and take a lump-sum distribution.¹ Data on IRA ownership are studied and then combined with data on historical participation in employment-based plans to determine workers' likelihood of ever having participated in a tax-preferred retirement plan. An important decision for those who have ever participated in a tax-preferred retirement plan is whether to take a lump-sum distribution on leaving an employer or retiring. A discussion of this issue is included, supplementing the earlier analysis by Copeland (2005a).

The final section of this report compares the standard of living of individuals age 55 or older with the standard they maintained when they were in their early 50s. This allows for an assessment of how the current near elderly and elderly are doing, and of the importance of such factors as pension income and health insurance in maintaining their standard of living. These findings can provide insight for workers currently preparing for retirement.

Furthermore, an appendix to this report provides longer term trend results with detailed breaks for demographic characteristics that are not discussed in this report or Copeland (2005c), which presents the "topline" participation results.

The 2001 Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) is conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau and follows the same households for a three-year period, asking various questions on their economic situations and demographic characteristics. The interviews of the households are conducted every four months, where more specialized topics are asked in addition to the core set of questions. The specialized questions on employment-based retirement plans are included in the Retirement and Pension Plan Coverage Topical Module, the seventh topical module, which was fielded from January–April of 2003 but not released until early to mid-2005.²

Employment-Based Plans

As of 2003, 67.3 percent of wage and salary workers age 16 or older worked for an employer or union that sponsored any type of retirement plan (defined contribution or defined benefit) for its employees or members (the "sponsorship rate") (Figure 1).³ Almost 51 percent of the wage and salary workers participated in a plan (the "participation level"), with 46.8 percent being entitled to a benefit or eligible to receive a lump-sum distribution from a plan if their job terminated at the time of survey (the "vested rate").⁴

The participation level varies considerably across various workers and workers' employer characteristics. It increases with the worker's job tenure, annual hours worked, earnings, educational attainment, and age through age 60. Furthermore, male, union-covered, and white workers were more likely to participate than other workers. Concerning firm characteristics, workers of the largest employers, in the public sector, or in

the mining or manufacturing industries were the most likely to participate in an employment-based retirement plan.

The differences between workers in the public and private sectors were particularly noteworthy. In the public sector, 73.8 percent of workers reported participating in a plan, compared with 46.2 percent in the private sector. The sponsorship and vested rates varied across the examined groups in a manner that was virtually identical to that of the participation level, except for women having a higher likelihood of working for an employer that sponsors a plan despite having a lower participation level and vested rate.

SIPP has more detailed information on plan types than some other datasets, such as the March Current Population Survey.⁵ Therefore, SIPP is used to examine in detail the plans in which workers are participating. Of those participating in a plan in 2003, 26.7 percent were in a defined benefit plan only, 53.9 percent were in a defined contribution plan only, and 17.6 percent had both plans (Figure 1).^{6, 7} For private-sector workers, this breakdown became significantly more skewed toward defined contribution plans, with 66.2 percent of workers in a defined contribution plan only, 15.5 in defined benefit plan only, and 16.6 percent in both. Public-sector workers had just the inverse for those with only one type of plan: 60.8 percent had a defined benefit plan only, 16.1 percent a defined contribution plan only, and 20.9 percent both. Female and union-covered workers were also more likely to have a defined benefit plan only.

Salary Reduction Plans

A specific type of employment-based retirement plan is the salary reduction plan, which would include retirement plans such as 401(k) plans or 403(b) plans, as a worker's take-home pay can be used (reduced) to make contributions to the plan.⁸ Consequently, these plans generally require the employee to decide to participate (contribute) in the plan, unlike traditional defined benefit plans in which participation is typically automatic upon meeting eligibility requirements.^{9, 10} According to the SIPP data, 49.0 percent of wage and salary workers worked at a place of employment where a salary reduction plan was sponsored for at least some of the employees (see the sponsorship rates in Figure 2). Thirty-four percent of all wage and salary workers participated in a salary reduction plan, and 33.1 percent of these workers were entitled to a benefit or eligible to receive a lump-sum distribution from a salary reduction plan if their job terminated at the time of survey (the participation level and vested rate, respectively, in Figure 2).

The sponsorship rate, to reiterate, includes any workers who work for an employer that offers a plan to *any* of its employees. However, not all of these workers are *eligible* to participate in the plan. In the SIPP data, follow-up questions were asked of those who worked where a plan was sponsored but who did not participate in the plan, to determine why they did not participate. The predominant reason for not participating, other than ineligibility (49.8 percent), was the inability to afford to contribute, which was cited by 17.8 percent of nonparticipants working where a plan was sponsored; however, those eligible to participate but not participating represent more than one-third (Figure 2).^{11, 12} Probably the most disturbing result is that 5.1 percent of respondents say they had not thought about participating, which translates into about 10 percent of those eligible to participate but who did not do so. After accounting for those who were not eligible, the eligible participation rate for salary reduction plans was 82.0 percent.¹³

The factors or characteristics of workers that are associated with higher overall participation levels in salary reduction plans are similar to those associated with the participation levels for all retirement plans. Those workers who are defined benefit plan participants, white, male, in a union-covered job, or in the mining or manufacturing industries are also more likely to be salary reduction plan participants. Furthermore, the likelihood of being a participant increases with age, earnings, firm size, hours of work, tenure, and educational attainment.

While many of these same patterns apply to the likelihood of participation given eligibility (eligible participation rate), some exceptions emerge. The eligible participation rate actually decreased as firm size increased, as this rate is 85.9 percent for those in firms with fewer than 25 employees and 81.3 percent for

Figure 1 Percentage of Wage and Salary Workers Who Participate in an Employment-Based Retirement Plan and Percentage of Those Participating in Each Plan Type, 2003

						Of Those Pa	rticipating	
					Defined	Defined	Both	
		Sponsorship	Participation	Vested	benefit	contribution	plan	Plan
	Total	Rate	Level	Rate	only	only	types	indeterminate
	(thousands)				,	,	71	
Total	125.635	67.3%	50.9%	46.8%	26.7%	53.9%	17.6%	1.8%
Tenure								
Less than 1 year	22,966	53.9	24.7	21.2	25.2	56.5	14.3	4.0
1–4 years	44,475	63.5	42.5	37.6	24.6	59.1	13.7	2.7
5–9 years	23 845	71.0	60.3	55.8	25.4	57.2	15.7	17
10-14 years	13 150	75.8	68.3	64.7	28.5	52.4	18.0	1.7
15 or more years	21 200	80.3	75.7	72.5	20.5	14 7	25.0	0.6
	21,200	00.0	75.7	72.5	20.7		20.0	0.0
16 20	7 401	20.2	5.0	4.5	16.9	67 5	1/1	16
10-20	7,491	59.5 60.6	0.2	4.5	10.0	07.5 59.7	14.1	1.0
21-30	27,009	00.0	30.0	32.3	26.0	56.7	13.5	1.9
31-40	30,504	70.4	56.1	51.3	25.5	56.4	16.4	1.8
41-50	32,204	73.0	62.1	57.7	27.1	52.1	18.8	2.0
51-60	20,990	/5.1	64.5	60.1	27.6	49.8	20.8	1.8
61–64	3,779	67.7	54.1	50.1	28.4	53.1	17.2	1.4
65 or older	3,658	52.0	27.6	26.0	32.6	50.5	16.5	0.5
Firm Size (by number of er	nployees)							
Fewer than 25	28,190	30.8	23.2	19.8	15.8	73.1	8.9	2.2
25–99	13,946	56.8	40.8	37.6	13.0	76.1	9.2	1.7
100 or more	62,100	79.4	57.9	54.0	15.8	63.4	19.1	1.6
Public sector	21,400	86.9	73.8	67.4	60.8	16.1	20.9	2.2
Annual Earnings								
No Income/unrptd.	2,973	43.7	27.6	23.3	28.5	57.1	12.1	2.3
\$1-\$4,999	7,387	42.2	13.1	11.7	27.5	58.9	11.9	1.8
\$5.000-\$9.999	11.061	46.6	19.4	17.2	32.9	51.2	13.9	2.0
\$10.000-\$14.999	14,743	49.7	27.8	25.0	28.9	56.7	13.2	1.2
\$15,000-\$19,999	14,996	61.3	40.0	36.3	29.8	57.5	11.4	1.4
\$20,000-\$24,999	14,315	68.3	51.6	47.3	26.7	58.0	14.2	1.1
\$25,000-\$29,999	12 455	73.9	59.5	54.3	30.0	52.6	15.4	2.0
\$30,000-\$49,999	27 877	81.2	70.8	65.6	27.3	52.0	18.5	22
\$50,000 or more	19,828	84.8	77.8	72.5	21.5	52.5	24.1	2.0
Gender	10,020	04.0	11.0	72.0	21.5	52.5	24.1	2.0
Malo	65 027	66 7	50.7	19 5	22.0	56.0	17.6	16
Formale	50,937	68.0	32.7	46.5	23.9	50.9	17.0	1.0
	59,699	06.0	49.0	44.9	30.0	50.2	17.7	2.1
Union Status	10 7 10	007	00.0	70.0	00.4	10.0	00.4	10
Union covered	16,740	90.7	80.6	/3.8	33.1	43.0	22.1	1.9
Not union covered	108,896	63.7	46.4	42.6	22.3	59.4	16.4	1.8
Industry		74.0	10 7	17.0	10 5		45.0	4.7
Agriculture	2,063	71.6	19.7	17.3	16.5	63.2	15.6	4.7
Mining	589	73.4	65.6	61.7	4.4	74.2	21.4	0.0
Construction	7,012	46.6	36.3	32.1	19.6	69.0	11.0	0.5
Manufacturing	16,764	76.5	64.5	60.5	14.7	63.9	20.4	1.1
Transportation, commun	nications,							
utilities	6,924	74.6	58.7	54.5	13.4	62.8	21.9	1.9
Wholesale trade	4,662	67.9	54.3	50.4	12.5	72.5	12.9	2.1
Retail trade	20,569	54.2	29.7	27.0	15.8	69.4	13.3	1.5
Finance, insurance,								
real estate	7,736	74.3	58.2	54.0	10.9	63.8	23.3	2.0
Professional services	23,666	68.6	49.8	45.6	19.7	63.7	14.2	2.4
Other services	14.252	51.6	35.5	32.3	13.1	73.4	12.1	1.4
All private	104.236	63.3	46.2	42.6	15.5	66.2	16.6	1.7
Public sector	21,400	86.9	73.8	67.4	60.8	16 1	20.9	22
	21,400	00.0	(continued	next nane)	00.0		20.0	L . <i>L</i>
1			loonanaea	(ion page)				

			Figure	1 (contin	ued)			
			-			Of Those Pa	rticipating	
					Defined	Defined	Both	
		Sponsorship	Participation	Vested	benefit	contribution	plan	Plan
	Total	Rate	Level	Rate	only	only	types	indeterminate
	(thousands)				(percentage	e)		
Race								
White	91,115	70.3	54.3	49.9	25.5	54.6	17.9	1.9
Black	13,207	67.5	48.6	44.7	32.5	47.9	17.8	1.8
Hispanic	15,474	49.7	33.7	30.9	31.0	52.8	15.1	1.1
Other	5,839	66.6	49.3	44.5	25.3	56.1	17.4	1.3
Education								
Less than HS diploma	14,192	42.4	24.2	22.2	26.8	59.1	13.5	0.6
HS diploma	35,211	62.9	45.8	41.9	27.1	56.1	15.4	1.4
Some college	40,199	68.7	49.9	45.7	25.8	54.7	17.4	2.0
Bachelor's degree	23,866	78.3	65.0	60.0	24.8	53.6	19.6	2.1
Graduate degree	12,169	82.7	72.7	67.2	31.1	46.3	20.5	2.2
Annual Hours								
1–999	9,461	45.3	14.6	12.0	28.6	56.1	11.7	3.6
1,000–1,499	10,235	48.8	20.8	18.9	30.5	50.9	15.9	2.7
1,500–1,999	14,575	60.7	40.3	36.5	32.1	48.2	17.3	2.4
2,000 or more	91,363	72.7	59.8	55.1	25.9	54.5	17.9	1.7
Source: Employee Benefit Res	earch Institute e	stimates of the 2	001 Survey of Inco	me and Prog	ram Participatio	n Topical Module 7.		

those in firms with 100 or more employees. There is also essentially no difference in this rate between defined benefit plan participants and non-defined benefit plan participants. The most-often reported reason for not participating when eligible is not being able to afford to participate in all categories, except for workers who are the oldest, longest tenured, highest earning, and most educated. The most frequent response among these groups is that they do not want to tie up the money or "other" reasons.

Salary reduction plans contain various features that provide potential incentives for workers to participate or choices that workers must contemplate. SIPP has data on a certain number of these features and, along with its extensive demographic and employer characteristics data, allows for a detailed examination of the frequency of these features.

Direct Investment

Of all salary reduction plan participants, 77.2 percent reported that they can direct at least some of their investments in their plan (Figure 3).¹⁴ Approximately 90 percent of the participants who are able to direct investment can direct all of their investments. Private-sector plan participants in general were significantly more likely to be able to direct their investments than public-sector workers.¹⁵ Furthermore, employees at small firms had a slightly higher probability of being able to direct all of their investments than were employees of larger firms. This is likely due to restrictions placed on matching company stock contributions found more commonly among large employers. Furthermore, union-covered participants were less likely to be able to direct their investments. This is likely because there are a greater percentage of public-sector workers in union-covered jobs than there are private-sector workers. Otherwise, no significant differences emerged on the likelihood of being able to directly invest assets across salary reduction participants.

Employer Contributions

About 83 percent of salary reduction plan participants were in a plan to which their employer contributes (Figure 3). Participants who work for larger private-sector employers were more likely to have employer contributions to their plan. Furthermore, participants who were *not* also defined benefit plan participants were more likely to be in a plan to which the employer contributes.¹⁶ Those with the lowest balances had the lowest probability of being in a plan to which the employer contributes—possibly a cause of the smaller balances.

						i							
		Percentage Plar	of Wag מא of Re	e and Sa asons fo	lary Woi r Not Pa	Figure 2 ·kers Who ·rticipating	Participat in a Spor	e in a Sá Isored F	alary Re Vlan, 200	duction 13			
				Re	asons for N	Vot Participatin	ig in a Spons	sored Sala	ry Reductio	on Plan			Salary
				No one in iob	Do not	Have not	tonnot	Do not		Other			Blan Eliciblo
	Sponsorship	Participation	Vested	type	enough	long enough	afford to	tie up	thought	choosing not		Percentage	Participation
	Rate	Level	Rate	allowed	hours	at employer	contribute	money	about it	to participate	Other	Ineligible	Rate
Total	49.0%	34.0%	33.1%	9.2%	20.7%	19.9%	17.8%	9.8%	5.1%	7.8%	9.8%	49.8%	82.0%
Less than 1 year	40.3	16.5	15.5	9.5	25.2	39.1	9.2	4.0	3.5	4.2	5.3	73.7	72.6
1-4 years	47.2	29.0	27.8	9.6	21.1	15.5	19.3	10.3	5.9	8.1	10.2	46.3	74.7
5-9 years	52.2	41.1	40.2	7.5	16.4	9.0	28.1	11.7	5.8	8.8	12.8	32.9	84.6
10-14 years	53.4	45.4	44.5	9.1	18.8	3.8	23.0	16.4	4.4	11.1	13.4	31.7	89.2
15 or more years	55.5	48.6	48.0	8.8	11.4	4.0	18.4	20.0	5.9	15.6	15.9	24.2	90.2
Age													
16–20	24.8	4.0	3.9	16.5	50.3	14.4	5.8	2.1	2.7	5.0	3.2	81.2	51.1
21–30	46.2	25.1	23.8	8.8	19.4	25.2	18.2	8.0	7.2	5.5	7.7	53.4	71.8
31-40	52.6	38.2	37.1	6.3	15.7	21.0	21.6	11.1	6.1	7.3	10.9	43.0	82.4
41-50	53.5	41.3	40.4	8.9	15.3	20.2	20.3	12.0	3.7	6.9	12.7	44.4	85.8
51-60	53.1	42.3	41.5	10.6	16.8	13.7	18.4	13.1	3.3	12.4	11.8	41.1	86.9
61-64	45.1	34.9	33.8	10.9	20.6	10.8	7.2	12.8	2.2	26.8	8.8	42.2	85.6
65 or older	29.1	14.8	14.3	10.8	46.6	0.7	2.9	6.7	2.1	18.7	11.5	58.2	71.1
Firm Size (by number of em	ployees)												
Fewer than 25	21.7	15.6	15.1	8.2	21.0	29.3	12.3	6.5	4.1	7.6	11.1	58.5	85.9
25–99	46.2	32.7	31.7	6.8	20.0	29.8	15.4	9.1	2.7	8.2	8.1	56.7	84.8
100 or more	65.6	45.8	44.5	8.3	19.9	18.8	19.6	10.7	6.1	7.2	9.6	46.9	81.3
Public sector	38.4	25.1	24.5	15.4	24.6	12.2	14.7	8.3	3.3	10.5	10.9	52.3	79.9
Annual Earnings													
No income/unreported	30.9	16.6	15.5	10.0	27.9	23.8	14.2	2.4	3.3	14.0	4.5	61.7	76.2
\$1-\$4,999	27.0	8.5	8.2	18.8	52.4	9.3	4.9	2.9	1.4	5.8	4.5	80.5	70.6
\$5,000-\$9,999	31.3	12.0	11.4	12.5	42.4	14.7	11.7	3.4	4.1	4.5	6.7	69.7	67.1
\$10,000-\$14,999	36.1	17.7	17.1	9.2	22.6	22.9	20.8	8.0	4.9	3.9	7.6	54.7	68.1
\$15,000-\$19,999	43.9	25.6	24.6	8.1	17.2	21.4	20.8	9.5	5.9	8.1	9.1	46.6	72.5
\$20,000-\$24,999	50.9	34.8	33.4	8.5	11.8	24.1	22.0	10.1	6.1	6.9	10.4	44.5	79.4
\$25,000-\$29,999	53.7	38.3	37.4	7.0	10.4	19.9	26.5	10.9	5.2	8.6	11.6	37.3	79.8
\$30,000-\$49,999	59.0	46.8	45.7	6.6	10.4	20.2	16.4	14.4	5.0	12.3	14.8	37.2	85.9
\$50,000 or more	64.7	55.8	54.7	7.5	13.4	20.0	14.2	17.3	7.7	9.2	10.7	40.9	91.4
Gender													
Male	49.5	36.6	35.7	9.7	15.9	21.4	17.3	12.1	4.7	8.6	10.3	47.0	84.3
Female	48.4	31.2	30.2	8.8	24.7	18.6	18.1	7.8	5.4	7.2	9.3	52.1	79.1
Union Status													
Union covered	55.2	41.6	40.1	10.2	15.6	11.0	21.6	13.9	5.4	10.0	12.3	36.7	82.8
Not union covered	48.0	32.9	32.0	9.1	21.4	21.1	17.2	9.2	5.1	7.5	9.4	51.6	81.8
					-	continued)							

				Bag	Figur	e 2 <i>(continued</i> of Participating) vin a Snoner	orad Calary	, Baduction	neld n			Calani
			-	No one	Do not	Have not	2000	Do not		Other			Reduction
				doį ni	work	worked	Cannot	want to	Have not	reasons for			Plan Eligible
	Sponsorship	Participation	Vested	type	enough	long enough	afford to	tie up	thought	choosing not		Percentage	Participation
	Rate	Level	Rate	allowed	hours	at employer	contribute	money	about it	to participate	Other	Ineligible	Rate
Industry						3)	vercentage)						
Agriculture	21.7	13.3	12.6	6.8	13.5	35.8	16.0	9.2	13.7	2.4	2.5	56.1	78.1
Mining	67.5	61.4	58.8	25.5	0.0	55.0	10.1	0.0	0.0	9.5	0.0	80.5	98.1
Construction	34.3	25.2	24.1	11.7	10.9	27.1	20.5	9.9	4.3	3.5	12.1	49.7	84.8
Manufacturing	65.0	52.2	51.1	8.0	6.2	21.7	26.3	13.8	5.9	6.4	11.8	35.9	86.4
Transportation, commur	nications,												
utilities	63.3	47.8	46.1	9.0	16.6	18.2	21.6	11.7	4.5	8.8	9.7	43.7	84.5
Wholesale trade	56.8	43.7	42.5	0.9	12.5	27.0	25.3	9.5	2.3	7.3	15.3	40.4	84.8
Retail trade	42.2	23.0	22.3	8.5	29.1	20.5	16.6	8.3	4.6	6.8	5.7	58.1	74.2
Finance, insurance,													
real estate	64.1	47.9	46.8	2.7	20.2	24.3	18.8	9.6	6.6	8.9	8.9	47.2	84.8
Professional services	53.2	36.0	34.9	8.5	23.7	19.0	14.1	9.9	5.6	7.9	11.4	51.1	81.0
Other services	41.3	27.7	27.0	10.4	17.2	21.2	17.2	9.6	6.7	8.2	9.5	48.8	79.7
All private	51.1	35.9	34.9	8.1	20.0	21.2	18.3	10.0	5.4	7.4	9.6	49.4	82.3
Public sector	38.4	25.1	24.5	15.4	24.6	12.2	14.7	8.3	3.3	10.5	10.9	52.3	79.9
Race													
White	51.7	36.8	35.8	9.1	21.7	19.2	16.0	9.9	4.8	9.3	10.1	50.0	83.1
Black	47.3	30.4	29.2	6.4	18.7	23.3	23.5	9.7	5.7	3.7	9.1	48.4	77.7
Hispanic	34.8	21.3	20.7	10.7	17.9	22.0	22.8	8.0	6.4	2.8	9.4	50.6	76.2
Other	47.9	33.7	32.3	14.9	17.0	16.6	18.3	12.0	5.9	8.2	7.1	48.5	82.2
Education													
Less than HS diploma	29.9	16.3	15.8	13.5	28.2	16.0	18.4	7.8	4.8	5.8	5.6	57.7	74.0
HS diploma	46.1	30.5	29.5	7.2	17.9	20.4	21.3	11.3	5.4	6.2	10.4	45.5	78.2
Some college	50.7	33.8	32.8	8.4	21.9	20.7	18.5	9.2	4.5	7.7	9.2	50.9	80.3
Bachelor's degree	57.9	44.5	43.5	10.0	19.7	21.0	12.2	10.2	6.4	9.9	10.5	50.8	87.1
Graduate degree	56.0	45.1	44.0	13.3	18.0	16.5	11.9	8.4	4.7	13.0	14.3	47.7	88.8
Defined Benefit Plan Partic	ipant												
Participant	46.4	37.2	37.0	4.9	2.7	4.5	26.8	20.8	9.1	13.8	17.5	12.1	82.0
Nonparticipant	49.7	33.1	31.9	9.9	23.6	22.4	16.3	8.0	4.5	6.9	8.5	55.9	81.9
Annual Hours													
1–999	45.3	14.6	12.0	15.8	56.0	10.8	4.0	2.2	1.3	4.8	5.0	82.7	73.2
1,000–1,499	48.8	20.8	18.9	14.3	49.2	11.0	7.6	3.8	1.8	7.7	4.5	74.6	70.8
1,500–1,999	42.5	24.4	23.6	9.2	25.6	18.6	17.9	6.5	6.5	5.9	9.8	53.4	74.4
2,000 or more	53.9	40.6	39.5	7.3	9.5	23.1	21.5	12.6	6.0	8.7	11.4	39.8	83.5
Source: Employee Benefit Rest	earch Institute esti	mates of the 2001	Survey of I	ncome and Pr	ogram Partic	sipation Topical N	10dule 7.						

			F	igure 3				
Percentage of Sal	ary Reducti	on Plan Pa	articipants	Age 16 or	r Older Who	Can Direct	Investme	nts and
Percentage	Whose Emp	oloyer Con	tributes to	Their Pla	n, by Variou	s Characte	ristics, 20	03
	Salarv	Can	Of Th	ose		Emplove	r Contribution	s Depend
	Reduction	Direct	Directing In	vestment	Employer	on Emp	loyee Contrib	utions
	Participants	Invesment	All	Part	Contributes	Entirely	Partly	Not at all
	(thousands)							
Total	42,041	77.2%	89.7%	10.3%	83.4%	57.7%	22.3%	20.0%
Tenure								
Less than 1 year	3,735	75.2	89.6	10.4	83.4	60.2	21.0	18.7
1-4 years	12,667	76.5	91.3	8.7	84.2	60.9	21.1	18.0
5–9 years	9,653	79.5	89.0	11.1	86.2	56.4	24.5	19.1
10-14 years	5,855	76.2	90.4	9.6	82.5	54.7	23.0	22.3
15 or more years	10,131	77.3	88.0	12.0	80.0	55.7	21.7	22.6
Age								
16–20	296	69.9	85.9	14.1	88.5	74.9	15.8	9.3
21–30	6,651	76.2	90.7	9.3	86.0	59.7	22.3	18.1
31–40	11,550	78.8	89.0	11.0	83.8	56.5	23.9	19.6
41–50	13,085	78.4	89.6	10.5	82.9	56.6	22.5	20.9
51–60	8,675	75.2	89.7	10.3	80.7	58.9	20.2	21.0
61–64	1,275	71.0	90.9	9.1	88.0	55.6	23.0	21.5
65 or older	508	78.6	91.5	8.5	82.5	63.2	18.5	18.3
Firm Size (by number of e	mployees)							
Fewer than 25	4,277	78.6	92.0	8.0	83.1	58.2	20.3	21.5
25–99	4,488	80.6	91.7	8.3	82.1	61.0	21.1	17.9
100 or more	28,189	79.1	88.9	11.1	88.2	59.7	23.8	16.5
Public Sector	5.087	62.8	90.4	9.7	57.9	36.6	13.7	49.8
Annual Earnings	-,		••••					
No income/unrptd	488	77.2	83.9	16.1	88.9	63.7	20.6	15.7
\$1-\$4.999	540	71.1	84.0	16.0	86.0	61.9	22.8	15.4
\$5,000-\$9,999	1.064	72.4	88.7	11.3	81.9	56.2	16.7	27.1
\$10,000-\$14,999	1.864	71.9	90.7	9.3	84.9	59.5	23.4	17.1
\$15,000-\$19,999	3,135	72.8	90.0	10.0	86.8	60.9	20.1	19.0
\$20,000-\$24,999	4,151	77.1	90.6	9.4	84.8	61.4	21.4	17.2
\$25,000-\$29,999	3,942	74.0	89.3	10.7	86.8	61.8	20.0	18.2
\$30,000-\$49,999	13 628	78.2	89.9	10.2	83.0	58.3	21.6	20.1
\$50,000 or more	13,230	79.5	89.6	10.4	81.0	53.2	25.0	21.8
Gender	10,200	1010	0010		0110	00.2	2010	
Male	23,800	78.2	89.7	10.3	83.6	59.3	22.5	18.2
Female	18 242	75.9	89.7	10.3	83.0	55.7	22.0	22.3
Union Status	10,212	10.0	0011	10.0	00.0	00.1	22.0	22.0
Union covered	6.734	68.1	91.2	8.9	70.7	51.4	21.4	27.2
Not union covered	35,307	78.9	89.4	10.6	85.8	58.7	22.4	18.9
Industry	00,007	10.0	00.1	10.0	00.0	00.1		10.0
Agriculture	265	74 4	87.3	127	90.6	53.6	22.7	23.7
Mining	361	76.5	92.3	77	100.0	64 7	23.6	11.8
Construction	1 736	76.1	89.9	10.1	85.0	61.7	24.6	13.8
Manufacturing	8 652	79.9	90.1	99	88.2	61.9	22.3	15.9
Transportation commu	inications	70.0	00.1	0.0	00.2	01.0	22.0	10.0
utilities	3 287	80 4	87.5	12 5	88.3	62.5	23.6	14 0
Wholesale trade	2 035	83.0	92.0	8.0	89.4	58.6	23.4	18.0
Retail trade	4 680	78.1	80.0	10.1	88.6	61.2	20.4	16.4
Finance insurance	4,000	70.1	00.0	10.1	00.0	01.2	<i>LL</i> .7	10.4
real estate	3 668	83.1	00 8	0.2	80 8	55 5	97 T	16.0
Professional services	0,000 8 261	77 0	90.0 88 6	0.∠ 11 /	82.0	56.2	21.1 22 Q	20.9
Other services	3 800	77 1	80.0 80.2	10.9	83.6	61 1	20.3	18.6
	36 951	79.2	80.6	10.0	0.00 88 0	50 7	20.0	17 2
Public sector	5 087	62.8	90 A	9.7	57 9	36.6	13.7	49.8
	0,007	02.0	(conti	nued)	01.0	00.0	10.7	-0.0
I			(COIIII	nacaj				

			Figure 3 (c	ontinued)				
	Salary	Can	Of Th	ose		Employe	r Contributior	ns Depend
	Reduction	Direct	Directing In	vestment	Employer	on Empl	loyee Contrib	outions
	Participants	Invesment	All	Part	Contributes	Entirely	Partly	Not at all
	(thousands)				(percentage)			
Race								
White	32,868	78.2	89.8	10.2	82.9	56.6	22.7	20.8
Black	3,972	73.0	89.9	10.2	86.7	66.6	19.1	14.3
Hispanic	3,258	72.5	89.9	10.1	83.5	58.0	21.3	20.8
Other	1,943	76.1	86.6	13.4	84.6	57.9	24.8	17.3
Education								
Less than HS diploma	2,266	72.3	87.5	12.5	88.0	60.3	23.1	16.6
HS diploma	10,556	76.8	90.3	9.7	85.2	61.7	20.7	17.6
Some college	13,393	76.9	89.1	10.9	84.3	58.6	22.6	18.8
Bachelor's degree	10,415	78.6	89.2	10.8	83.1	54.5	23.2	22.3
Graduate degree	5,411	78.2	91.5	8.5	76.0	52.0	22.7	25.3
Defined Benefit Plan Partic	ipant							
Participant	10,480	72.4	89.0	11.0	77.7	51.4	19.9	28.7
Nonparticipant	31,562	78.8	89.9	10.1	85.2	59.6	23.0	17.3
Account Balance								
\$1\$999	3,067	70.5	90.0	10.0	78.8	58.6	21.4	19.9
\$1,000-\$4,999	6,848	77.7	91.6	8.4	80.4	60.5	23.1	16.4
\$5,000-\$9,999	6,632	78.2	89.8	10.2	82.3	59.7	21.3	19.0
\$10,000-\$19,999	9,317	77.2	90.1	9.9	84.8	60.8	18.4	20.8
\$20,000-\$39,999	6,525	79.2	88.1	11.9	85.2	55.7	24.9	19.4
\$40,000-\$69,999	3,660	77.0	89.0	11.0	84.3	57.8	21.4	20.8
\$70,000 or more	5,992	77.0	88.6	11.4	85.4	49.6	26.7	23.8
Source: Employee Benefit Rese	earch Institute esti	mates of the 200	1 Survey of Inco	ome and Prog	ram Participation To	pical Module 7.		

Among participants in a plan to which the employer contributes, 57.7 percent were in a plan in which the employer contributions depends *entirely* on the participants' contributions; 22.3 percent were in a plan in which the employer contributions depend *partly* on their contributions; and 20.0 percent were in a plan to which employer contributions do *not* depend *at all* on their contributions (Figure 3). The one significant deviation from this overall pattern is in the case of public-sector workers, who are less likely to be in a plan in which the employer contributions depend entirely on participant contributions and instead are in plans whose employer contributions do not depend at all on their contributions.¹⁷

Retirement Plan History

Participation in a retirement plan through current employment at a specific moment in time does not tell the full story of a worker's preparedness for retirement or the availability of some form of retirement income from an employment-based retirement plan. The number of plans workers participate in at their current job could have a significant positive effect on their future retirement income, particularly for those who receive additional employer contributions to more than one plan.¹⁸ In addition, workers at different stages in life have a different likelihood of having access to a plan, depending on their tenure or type of employer. Furthermore, workers will choose to participate (or not to participate) at different points of their careers, depending upon their circumstances. Thus, it is important to consider workers' entire careers and the number of plans they have participated in when determining the impact of participation in employment-based plans.

The percentage of wage and salary workers age 16 or older who participated in an employment-based retirement plan increased from 46.7 percent in 1998 to 50.9 percent in 2003. However, the percentage of participants in a plan who were in more than one retirement plan through their employment decreased from 21.0 percent in 1998 to 18.1 percent in 2003 (Figure 4). The likelihood of having more than one plan increased with tenure, educational attainment, and earnings. Working for a large (100 or more employees) or public-sector employer; working in the mining; transportation, communications, and utilities; and finance, insurance, and real estate industries; or being in a union-covered job also increased the chances that a worker was participating in more than one plan. These patterns emerged for workers having more than one plan in both 1998 and 2003.

Figure 4

Percentage of All Wage and Salary Workers Age 16 or Older Who Participate in a Current Job's Employment-Based Retirement Plan, Participate in More Than One Plan in a Current Job, Have Retirement Plan Benefits From a Former Job, Have Ever Participated in a Plan, by Various Characteristics, 1998 and 2003

			1998					2003		
			Of those	Have a	Have ever			Of those	Have a	Have ever
			in a current	plan from	participated			in a current	plan from	participated
		Participate	job's plan in	a current	in an		Participate	job's plan in	a current	in an
		in a current	more than	or	employment-		in a current	more than	or	employment-
	Total	job's plan	one plan	former job	based plan	Total	job's plan	one plan	former job	based plan
	(thousands)					(thousands)				
Total	118,824	46.7%	21.0%	48.7%	53.7%	125,635	50.9%	18.1%	53.2%	57.8%
Tenure										
Less than 1 year	24,896	21.1	18.8	24.5	31.3	22,966	24.7	15.5	28.7	36.0
1-4 years	40,211	37.7	16.8	40.1	46.0	44,475	42.5	15.0	45.3	50.3
5–9 years	21,252	57.0	19.3	58.7	62.8	23,845	60.3	16.9	61.9	65.1
10-14 years	13,391	66.4	22.5	67.1	70.5	13,150	68.3	17.6	69.7	73.1
15 or more years	19,074	73.7	26.7	74.3	77.2	21,200	75.7	24.2	76.6	79.5
Age						-				
16–20	8,198	6.6	22.6	6.6	6.6	7,491	5.2	15.8	5.2	5.2
21-30	26.843	32.2	16.7	33.3	36.8	27.009	36.6	13.9	37.6	40.4
31-40	32,126	53.1	20.5	55.3	60.2	30,504	56.1	17.9	59.1	63.8
41-50	29,243	59.5	22.7	62.3	67.0	32,204	62.1	19.2	64.7	69.2
51-60	16,304	59.1	23.1	62 1	68.6	20,990	64.5	20.2	67.7	72.8
61-64	2 950	49.3	18.8	51.0	61.4	3 779	54 1	16.8	57.5	66.4
65 or older	3 160	23.1	16.7	24.5	46.6	3 658	27.6	19.0	28.9	48.9
Firm Size (by number (of employees)	20.1	10.7	24.0	40.0	0,000	27.0	10.0	20.0	40.0
Fewer than 25	26 087	17.8	10.8	20.4	28.2	28 190	23.2	8.8	26.5	33.1
25_00	13 780	34.6	13.5	26.8	12 0	13 9/6	40.8	10.0	13.0	/8.9
20-33 100 or more	50 661	54.0	22.7	56.0	42.9	62 100	40.0 57 Q	10.9	40.9 50.0	40.9 63.8
Public sector	10 288	71 3	22.7	72.0	76.1	21 400	73.8	22.6	75 1	78.6
Appual Earpings	19,200	71.5	22.9	12.9	70.1	21,400	75.0	22.0	75.1	70.0
No incomo/uprotd	2 011	21 /	02.0	24.6	42.0	2 072	07 G	10.4	20.2	40 F
	0.205	10.2	23.2	34.0 12.7	42.9	2,973	27.0	12.4	15.0	40.5
φ1-φ4,999 ¢5.000, ¢0.000	9,305	12.3	17.9	13.7	19.5	11.061	10.1	12.3	15.2	21.4
\$3,000-\$9,999 \$10,000 \$14,000	13,493	17.9	10.1	20.0	20.1	14 740	19.4	13.2	21.4	20.1
\$10,000-\$14,999 \$15,000 \$10,000	17,207	29.5	14.4	31.3	35.9	14,743	27.8	12.9	30.0	34.8 46.5
\$15,000-\$19,999	15,447	43.6	14.3	45.6	51.7	14,990	40.0	12.1	42.0	40.5
\$20,000-\$24,999	13,393	53.4	17.1	55.4	60.4	14,315	51.6	14.3	54.0	58.4
\$25,000-\$29,999	11,363	61.4	20.2	63.3	68.U 75.5	12,455	59.5	15.0	61.6	00.0
\$30,000-\$49,999	22,695	69.2	23.5	71.5	75.5	27,877	70.8	19.4	73.4	//.1
\$50,000 or more	12,110	74.6	30.4	76.9	80.4	19,828	77.8	24.9	80.1	83.1
Gender	~~~~~	40.0	00.4	54.0	50.0	05 007		10.0	- 4 0	50.0
Male	62,622	49.3	22.1	51.3	56.3	65,937	52.7	18.2	54.9	59.2
Female	56,202	43.8	19.5	45.8	50.8	59,699	49.0	18.0	51.4	56.2
Union Status										
Union covered	17,237	76.8	24.6	77.6	79.8	16,740	80.6	22.3	81.6	83.4
Not union covered	101,588	41.6	19.8	43.8	49.3	108,896	46.4	17.0	48.9	53.9
Industry										
Agriculture	1,866	14.7	16.6	16.9	21.0	2,063	19.7	19.7	21.4	25.4
Mining	620	60.6	30.9	61.9	64.2	589	65.6	23.7	67.1	72.0
Construction	5,842	33.5	19.9	35.8	41.8	7,012	36.3	11.2	38.3	43.0
Manufacturing	19,745	59.7	22.9	61.3	65.2	16,764	64.5	18.2	66.6	69.7
Transportation, corr	munications,									
utilities	6,681	56.4	25.9	58.3	63.5	6,924	58.7	20.9	60.7	65.5
Wholesale trade	4,757	47.3	17.0	49.2	54.5	4,662	54.3	16.1	56.6	60.9
Retail trade	19,937	24.4	17.1	26.0	30.3	20,569	29.7	13.2	31.4	35.6
Finance, insurance,										
real estate	7,029	52.9	26.4	56.1	63.0	7,736	58.2	23.7	60.7	67.1
Prof. services	20,118	45.5	16.6	48.3	54.3	23,666	49.8	14.9	52.9	58.9
Other services	12,943	27.5	15.0	29.7	36.8	14,252	35.5	14.0	39.1	44.6
All private	99,536	41.9	20.3	44.0	49.3	104,236	46.2	16.7	48.7	53.5
Public sector	19,288	71.3	22.9	72.9	76.1	21,400	73.8	22.6	75.1	78.6
				(CC	ontinued)					

				Figure	4 (continued)					
			1998					2003		
			Of those	Have a	Have ever			Of those	Have a	Have ever
			in a current	plan from	participated			in a current	plan from	participated
		Participate	job's plan in	a current	in an		Participate	job's plan in	a current	in an
		in a current	more than	or	employment-		in a current	more than	or	employment-
	Total	job's plan	one plan	former job	based plan	Total	job's plan	one plan	former job	based plan
	(thousands)		(percei	ntage)		(thousands)		(perce	entage)	
Race										
White	89,228	49.5	21.3	51.9	57.4	91,115	54.3	18.1	56.9	62.1
Black	12,808	43.6	21.1	44.6	48.7	13,207	48.6	19.1	50.1	54.1
Hispanic	11,913	31.2	17.6	32.0	34.0	15,474	33.7	16.4	34.8	37.1
Other	4,875	40.9	19.5	42.6	46.5	5,839	49.3	19.1	51.2	54.2
Education										
Less than HS dip.	14,693	22.2	15.8	22.8	25.4	14,192	24.2	13.4	24.8	26.9
HS diploma	36,439	42.6	18.7	44.3	49.1	35,211	45.8	14.4	47.5	52.0
Some college	36,929	47.0	20.8	49.0	54.8	40,199	49.9	18.5	52.2	57.6
Bachelor's degree	20,859	59.7	23.1	63.1	68.4	23,866	65.0	20.3	68.7	73.2
Graduate degree	9,904	69.3	25.1	72.2	77.5	12,169	72.7	22.1	76.2	81.3
Source: Employee Benefit	Research Institu	ute estimates of	the 1996 and 20	001 Survey of	Income and Pro	gram Participat	ion Topical Mod	dule 7.		

Among these wage and salary workers, 50.9 percent participated in a retirement plan through a current job in 2003, but 53.2 percent either currently participated or still had retirement benefits from a plan through a previous employer but had not begun receiving benefits (Figure 4). For those age 51–60, the proportion who were currently participating in a plan or had retirement benefits from a previous job jumped to 67.7 percent.¹⁹ Furthermore, 69.7 percent of wage and salary workers with job tenure of 10–14 years and 76.6 percent of those with job tenure of 15 or more years were participating in or entitled to benefits from a plan through a current or former job. The percentages for 1998 follow a similar pattern, but the levels were somewhat lower.

Some individuals who had retirement benefits from a previous job could have taken a lump-sum distribution from the plan for the entire amount of their account balance in a defined contribution plan or for the present value of their accruals in a defined benefit plan. Thus, these workers would no longer be entitled to a retirement benefit from their previous employer. The preservation of the benefit or assets would depend on what the worker did with the lump-sum distribution, i.e., rolled it over to an IRA or subsequent employer's plan, or spent it. These decisions will be discussed in a later section, but it is also informative to know the percentage of workers who participated in an employment-based plan at least once in order to determine the full extent of participation in these plans. In 2003, workers were asked if they ever participated in a retirement plan through a previous employer and their responses were combined with those who said they were currently participating; 57.8 percent responded that at some point in their career they had participated in a retirement plan through an employment-based arrangement. This number reached 72.8 percent for those ages 51–60 and 79.5 percent for those with job tenures of 15 or more years.²⁰ Consequently, when examined on a lifetime basis, employment-based retirement plan participating.

Another component of the retirement plan puzzle in terms of lifetime participation in retirement plans is the IRA. Most of the asset growth in IRAs during the mid-1990s was the result of rollovers from other employment-based retirement plans and asset returns, not from new contributions (Sabelhaus, 1999).²¹ Consequently, participation in IRAs must also be considered in a lifetime participation assessment. For the self-employed, Keogh plans allows them the opportunity to save money on a tax-preferred basis at comparable amounts to what can be saved in employment-based retirement plans offered to salaried workers.

As of year-end 2002, 16.9 percent of all workers age 16 or older had an IRA and/or a Keogh plan in their own name (Figure 5).^{22, 23} IRA/Keogh ownership in the worker's own name increased substantially with age, from 6.7 percent of those age 21–30 to 31.1 percent of those age 61–64. Higher earnings and

			Figure 5			
Percentage of A	All Workers Ag	je 16 or Old	er Who Have a	n IRA or Keo	gh Plan in T	heir
Own Name and W	ho Contribute	d to the Pla	ns, by Various	Characterist	ics, 1997 an	d 2002
		1997	Made tax-		2002	Made tax-
			deductible			deductible
	Number	Have IRA	contribution	Number	Have IRA	contribution
	of	or Keogh in	to IRA or	of	or Keogh in	to IRA or
	workers	own name	Keogh in 1997	workers	own name	Keogh in 2002
	(thousands)	10.00/		(thousands)	10.00/	4.004
l otal	131,079	16.9%	5.0%	137,921	16.9%	4.6%
Loss than 1 year	26 261	8.6	2.1	24 256	10.6	2.5
	20,301	0.0	2.1	24,330	14.2	2.0
5_9 years	23 675	18.3	5.0	26 187	18.1	5.1
10-14 years	14 981	21.2	74	14 825	20.0	5.9
15 or more years	22.148	28.2	8.5	24.406	25.4	7.4
Age	,:	_0	0.0	,	2011	
16–20	8,474	0.6	0.2	7,776	0.8	0.1
21–30	28.231	5.6	1.9	28.184	6.7	1.8
31–40	35.171	14.3	4.1	33,168	15.4	4.4
41–50	32.599	22.4	6.9	35,499	19.2	5.6
51-60	18.626	29.5	8.9	23.800	27.5	7.6
61–64	3,588	34.9	10.5	4,518	31.1	7.7
65 or older	4,390	32.2	5.6	4,975	30.2	5.3
Firm Size (by number of emplo	ovees)					
Fewer than 25	37,928	19.6	7.2	40,029	18.4	6.0
25–99	13,878	14.5	4.2	14,086	16.9	4.3
100 or more	59,766	15.2	3.8	62,243	15.7	3.8
Public sector	19,507	18.6	5.1	21,563	17.7	4.8
Annual Earnings						
No income/unreported	6,862	18.1	5.1	5,675	20.7	5.7
\$1-\$4,999	10,837	9.3	2.6	8,999	10.3	2.5
\$5,000-\$9,999	14,941	8.9	2.6	12,295	9.2	1.6
\$10,000-\$14,999	18,606	9.3	3.0	15,946	9.4	2.7
\$15,000-\$19,999	16,148	11.6	3.8	15,831	10.8	2.8
\$20,000-\$24,999	14,244	15.2	4.4	15,301	13.3	3.9
\$25,000-\$29,999	12,026	17.9	5.2	12,992	15.2	4.7
\$30,000-\$49,999	24,007	23.1	6.8	29,309	20.7	5.5
\$50,000 or more	13,407	38.3	11.1	21,573	31.6	9.1
Gender						
Male	69,847	17.2	5.2	73,159	17.3	4.9
Female	61,232	16.6	4.8	64,762	16.5	4.4
Union Status						
Union covered	17,237	17.4	4.3	16,740	16.9	4.8
Not union covered	113,842	16.8	5.1	121,181	16.9	4.6
Industry						
Agriculture	3,283	17.2	5.6	3,239	14.4	3.9
Mining	634	15.2	4.6	621	19.9	9.2
Construction	7,508	13.4	5.1	8,850	13.8	4.5
Manufacturing	20,196	15.4	3.8	17,287	17.0	4.3
I ransportation, communica	ations,	47.0	4.0		10.0	4.0
	7,163	17.8	4.8	/,4/4	16.3	4.3
wriolesale trade	5,180	19.6	5.8	4,962	19.7	4.7
	21,604	10.2	3.4	22,028	9.4	2.4
Finance, insurance,	7 0 4 7	05 5	77	0.405	05 5	
real estate	7,647	25.5	1.1	8,485 05.000	25.5	0.9
Protessional services	22,202	22.1	6.2	25,000	21.3	b.1
	10,154	14.8	5.1 E 0	116.050	10.1	4.4
All private Public soster	10 507	10.0	5.U 5.1	01 560	10.0	4.0 4.0
	19,307	10.0	U.I Dinued	21,000	17.7	4.0
1		(CON	unueu)			

		Figure 5	(continued)			
		1997			2002	
			Made tax- deductible			Made tax- deductible
	Number	Have IRA	contribution	Number	Have IRA	contribution
	of	or Keogh in	to IRA or	of	or Keogh in	to IRA or
	workers	own name	Keogh in 1997	workers	own name	Keogh in 2002
	(thousands)	(perc	entage)	(thousands)	(perc	entage)
Race						
White	99,374	20.1	5.9	100,754	20.6	5.5
Black	13,450	5.9	1.8	13,924	5.6	2.0
Hispanic	12,826	4.9	1.7	16,772	4.9	1.3
Other	5,429	13.3	4.8	6,470	14.6	4.8
Education						
Less than HS diploma	16,386	4.0	1.3	15,846	3.5	1.0
HS diploma	40,322	10.7	3.3	38,636	10.9	2.8
Some college	40,448	15.9	4.7	43,858	14.8	3.9
Bachelor's degree	22,807	27.8	8.0	26,066	26.9	7.5
Graduate degree	11,116	39.9	11.9	13,515	37.4	11.0
Employment-Based						
Retirement Plan Participant						
Nonparticipant	75,945	13.2	4.6	72,303	11.1	2.2
Participant	55,133	22.0	5.5	65,618	23.3	7.4
Employment-Based						
Defined Benefit Plan Particip	ant					
Nonparticipant	107,930	15.8	5.0	109,407	16.0	4.5
Participant	23,149	21.9	5.1	28,514	20.5	5.2
Employment-Based						
Salary Reduction Plan Partic	ipant					
Nonparticipant	91,813	14.3	4.7	94,594	14.2	4.0
Participant	39,265	22.9	5.8	43,326	22.8	6.0
Source: Employee Benefit Researc	ch Institute estimate	s of the 1996 and	d 2001 Survey of Inc	come and Program	m Participation To	pical
Module 7.						

more educational attainment are also associated with an increased likelihood of IRA/Keogh ownership: 10.8 percent of those earning \$15,000–\$19,999 owned an IRA/Keogh, compared with 31.6 percent of those earning \$50,000 or more and 10.9 percent of those with only a high school diploma owned an IRA/Keogh, compared with 37.4 percent with a graduate degree. Furthermore, workers who participated in an employment-based plan had a higher probability of owning an IRA, although the type of job-based plan did not affect this probability.

A contradictory finding related to the likelihood of participating in an employment-based retirement plan is that workers at small employers are more likely to own an IRA/Keogh than those at large employers. There are two likely explanations for this result. First, some small employers offer their employees a SIMPLE IRA retirement plan,²⁴ so these workers have an IRA also by definition, whereas employees of large employers would have to have two separate plans for an IRA and an employment-based plan. Second, since the workers at small employers have a lower probability of being offered an employment-based plan, those who want to save for retirement would have to use an IRA to receive the tax benefits similar to those available in employment-based retirement savings plans, albeit at lower contribution levels.

The percentage of workers who made a tax-deductible contribution to an IRA/Keogh in 2002 (4.6 percent) was significantly smaller than the percentage who owned them (16.9 percent) and was also a slight decline from the 5.0 percent contribution rate in 1997 (Figure 5).²⁵ Across various characteristics, the workers who were more likely to own an IRA/Keogh were also more likely to contribute to one. The one exception was that defined benefit participants were more likely than nonparticipants to own an IRA/Keogh, but there was virtually no difference in their likelihood of making a tax-deductible IRA/Keogh contribution.

Figure 6												
Perc	Percentage of All Workers Age 16 or Older Who Currently Participate											
in Son	ne Type of R	etirement Plan	or Have Ever F	Participated i	in Some Type							
	of Retirement	t Plan. ^a by Varie	ous Characteri	stics, 1998 a	nd 2003							
		1998			2003							
		0	Have ever		0 11 1	Have ever						
	Tatal	Currently have	participated in	Tatal	Currently have	participated in						
	Total	some type of	some type of	Total	some type or	some type of						
	(thousands)	retirement plan	retirement plan	(thousands)	retirement plan	retirement plan						
Total	(11005a1105)	51.9%	56.0%	(11005an05) 137 921	55 1%	58.9%						
Tenure	101,079	51.576	50.078	107,921	55.176	50.978						
l ess than 1 year	26.361	28.6	33.9	24,356	32.9	38.6						
1–4 vears	43.914	43.9	48.5	48.147	47.8	51.8						
5–9 vears	23.675	60.8	64.3	26.187	62.6	65.4						
10–14 vears	14.981	68.6	71.4	14.825	69.2	72.0						
15 or more years	22,148	74.9	77.7	24,406	75.3	78.4						
Age	,			,								
 16–20	8,474	7.0	7.0	7,776	5.7	5.7						
21–30	28,231	34.6	37.9	28,184	38.7	41.3						
31–40	35,171	56.6	60.7	33,168	59.8	63.7						
41–50	32,599	64.8	68.4	35,499	65.4	69.1						
51–60	18,626	67.0	71.9	23,800	69.4	73.3						
61–64	3,588	62.1	68.5	4,518	63.7	70.1						
65 or older	4,390	44.5	59.0	4,975	44.1	58.4						
Firm Size (by number of er	nployees)											
Fewer than 25	37,928	31.4	37.5	40,029	32.7	38.4						
25–99	13,878	43.0	47.5	14,086	49.2	53.0						
100 or more	59,766	59.2	62.3	62,243	63.1	66.1						
Public sector	19,507	76.1	78.5	21,563	77.6	80.1						
Annual Earnings						10.0						
No income/unreported	6,862	36.8	44.5	5,675	35.9	43.9						
\$1-\$4,999	10,837	19.9	24.2	8,999	22.0	27.1						
\$5,000-\$9,999	14,941	25.4	30.0	12,295	25.8	31.0						
\$10,000-\$14,999	18,606	34.9	38.9	15,940	33.3	37.3						
\$15,000-\$19,999	10,140	49.2	04.2 62.0	15,031	45.0 56 5	40.0						
\$20,000-\$24,999 \$25,000 \$20,000	14,244	56.9 66.6	02.9 70.5	12,301	50.5	68.3						
\$30,000-\$29,999	24 007	74.6	70.5	29 309	74.8	77.8						
\$50,000-\$49,999 \$50,000 or more	13/07	81.0	83.3	23,503	81.0	83.4						
Gender	10,407	01.0	00.0	21,575	01.0	00.4						
Male	69 847	53 5	57.6	73 159	56.0	59.8						
Female	61,232	50.2	54.1	64,762	54.1	57.9						
Union Status	0.,202	00.2	•	01,102	0	07.10						
Union covered	17.237	79.7	81.5	16.740	83.2	84.7						
Not union covered	113,842	47.7	52.1	121,181	51.2	55.4						
Industry	- , -			, -								
Agriculture	3,283	25.7	31.0	3,239	27.2	31.7						
Mining	634	64.6	66.9	621	68.0	73.4						
Construction	7,508	37.6	42.4	8,850	38.2	42.8						
Manufacturing	20,196	63.9	67.1	17,287	68.8	71.1						
Transportation, commun	nications,											
utilities	7,163	59.8	64.2	7,474	60.8	64.9						
Wholesale trade	5,180	54.6	58.7	4,962	59.9	63.3						
Retail trade	21,604	30.5	34.3	22,028	34.2	38.1						
Finance, insurance,												
real estate	7,647	64.1	68.3	8,485	64.9	69.2						
Professional services	22,202	54.4	59.2	25,660	57.8	62.5						
Other services	16,154	34.4	39.9	17,752	41.3	45.8						
All private	111,572	47.7	52.0	116,358	51.0	55.0						
Public sector	19,507	/6.1	/8.5	21,563	//.6	80.1						
1		(0	continued)									

ſ

Figure 6 (continued)											
		1998			2003						
			Have ever			Have ever					
		Currently have	participated in		Currently have	participated in					
	Total	some type of	some type of	Total	some type of	some type of					
	workers	retirement plan	retirement plan	workers	retirement plan	retirement plan					
	(thousands)	(perce	ntage)	(thousands)	(perce	ntage)					
Race											
White	99,374	55.9	60.3	100,754	59.7	63.8					
Black	13,450	44.4	48.4	13,924	49.2	52.9					
Hispanic	12,826	31.9	33.7	16,772	34.3	36.5					
Other	5,429	44.8	48.5	6,470	51.0	53.8					
Education											
Less than HS diploma	16,386	23.3	25.7	15,846	24.4	26.4					
HS diploma	40,322	46.0	50.1	38,636	48.5	52.5					
Some college	40,448	52.2	57.0	43,858	54.2	58.7					
Bachelor's degree	22,807	69.4	73.2	26,066	72.0	75.4					
Graduate degree	11,116	78.9	82.6	13,515	80.6	84.2					
Source: Employee Benefit Rese	earch Institute est	imates of the 1996 a	nd 2001 Survey of In	come and Progra	am Participation Topi	cal Module 7.					
^a This does not include those wh	no only had an IR	A or Keogh previous	ly but no longer do s	o. It does include	e those who currently	/ have an IRA					

or Keogh or have ever participated in an employment-based retirement plan.

Since tax-preferred vehicles for accumulating retirement assets consist of both employment-based and individual retirement plans, looking at the combination of their ownership/participation levels gives a more complete picture of Americans' financial preparation for retirement. When workers who are participating in a current or previous job's plan are added to those who own an IRA or Keogh, the proportion of all workers who had some type of retirement plan in 2003 was 55.1 percent (Figure 6).²⁶ Among workers 51–60, 69.4 percent had some form of retirement plan, and individuals with 15 or more years of tenure in a job had a 75.3 percent probability of having a plan. Furthermore, those with the highest earnings, most education, or union coverage had the highest likelihood of having some type of tax-preferred retirement plan. These are all increases from 1998 levels, where the similar patterns of ownership across the various characteristics were essentially the same.

Next, it was determined that 58.9 percent of all workers had participated in some type of retirement plan sometime during their work life, as of in 2003 (Figure 6).²⁷ For those ages 51–60, almost 73.3 percent had ever participated in a plan, while among those with 15 or more years of tenure just over 78 percent had ever had a plan. Again, those with the highest earnings, the most education, or a union-covered job had the highest probability of ever having had a plan—at more than 80 percent for these groups. Again, these levels higher than in 1998, when 56.0 percent of all workers had ever participated in some type of retirement plan.

There were two factors that could account for the difference between the proportion of individuals who *had ever* been in a plan and the proportion *currently* in a plan: not vesting in a previous job's plan and spending a lump-sum distribution at job termination. Unfortunately, the cause cannot be determined from the available data. While vesting periods could be made shorter, immediate vesting in all cases could make the sponsorship of a plan more costly, which could lead to a reduction in the number of employers or unions sponsoring retirement plans. However, understanding which workers spend their lump-sum distributions and the reasons they do so could lead to the creation of legislation designed to stimulate the continued accumulation of retirement assets. One example of such legislation is the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (EGTRRA) (P.L. 107-16),²⁸ which requires employers to establish a rollover IRA as the cash-out default option for lump-sums between \$1,000 and \$5,000. Additionally, repeated educational messages/campaigns specifically targeted at groups who disproportionately spend their distributions could be used more broadly.

Lump-Sum Distributions

What individuals chose to do with a lump-sum distribution can have a significant impact on how much, if any, assets they have at retirement. Consequently, it is important to identify those groups that are rolling over their assets or using their assets for other purposes. As of 2003, nearly 16 million individuals had taken a lump-sum distribution of their retirement plan assets (Figure 7). The mean, or average, amount (in 2003 dollars) of these distributions was \$30,072 and the median amount was \$8,118. Approximately 55 percent of these distributions were for less than \$10,000, and 41.7 percent were received from 1999 through 2003.

Furthermore, approximately 55 percent went to individuals from ages 21–40, just less than 90 percent were received by whites, and slightly more than half went to females. Recipients ages 61–64 had the highest mean amount of any age category, and the mean distribution was significantly higher for males than for females.

Figure 7												
Number, Mean Amount, Median Amount, and												
Source of Most Recent Lump-Sum Distributions, 2003												
Source of the Lump-Sum Distribution												
State or												
						Federal	local					
	Total	Total	Mean	Median	Private	government	government					
	Recinients	Recinients	Δmount*	Δmount*	amplover	employer	employer	Other				
	(thousands)	(percentage)	Amount	Amount	empioyo	employer	employer	Other				
Total	15 983	100.0%	\$30 072	\$8 118	80.8%	3.4%	13.5%	2.3%				
। तत्व। 15,983 100.0% \$30,072 \$8,118 80.8% 3.4% 13.5% 2.3% Amount of Most Recent Lump-Sum Distribution												
\$1-\$499	Amount of Niost Recent Lump-Sum Distribution \$1_\$499 905 5.7 269 300 77.5 1.9 1.9.0 1.6											
\$500-\$999	858	5.4	736	745	77.8	1.9	19,9	0.4				
\$1.000-\$2.499	2.411	15.1	1.681	1.658	80.4	2.6	15.0	2.0				
\$2.500-\$4.999	2.238	14.0	3.620	3.584	80.3	2.0	15.3	2.4				
\$5.000-\$9.999	2.371	14.8	7.254	7.254	80.6	3.5	14.7	1.2				
\$10,000-\$19,999	2,437	15.2	13.955	13.464	78.4	4.8	13.6	3.2				
\$20.000-\$49.999	2.342	14.7	31.623	29.475	80.8	5.2	10.7	3.2				
\$50.000 or more	2.422	15.2	141.371	102.780	86.7	3.2	7.4	2.8				
Year in Which Most Rece	nt Lump-Sum		•••,-•			0	•••					
Distribution Was Receiv	/ed											
Before 1980	701	4.4	86,999	16,275	53.7	9.8	36.4	1.2				
1980–1986	1,498	9.4	43,810	13,890	72.8	4.9	21.3	0.9				
1987–1993	3,058	19.1	31,159	10,200	79.2	4.6	13.3	2.9				
1994–1998	4,062	25.4	27,695	8,976	83.8	3.0	11.2	2.0				
1999–2003	6,664	41.7	21,946	5,380	84.4	2.0	11.0	2.7				
Age of Recipient When M	ost Recent Lui	mp-	,	,				ļ				
Sum Distribution Was R	leceived	·										
16–20	195	1.2	15,298	2,431	77.9	2.5	15.3	4.4				
21–30	4,352	27.2	16,880	3,844	81.4	3.6	14.3	0.7				
31–40	4,747	29.7	22,495	7,735	78.7	3.4	16.2	1.8				
41–50	3,223	20.2	32,859	10,760	81.5	3.0	12.5	3.1				
51–60	2,119	13.3	55,124	17,685	82.7	3.2	11.0	3.2				
61–64	678	4.2	63,911	30,720	84.0	2.7	8.2	5.1				
65 and older	669	4.2	46,910	16,575	80.3	6.0	7.5	6.2				
Gender												
Male	7,555	47.3	40,700	10,881	84.6	2.5	11.2	1.8				
Female	8,428	52.7	20,545	5,895	77.4	4.2	15.6	2.8				
Race												
White	13,861	86.7	32,169	8,608	81.1	3.3	13.4	2.3				
Black	900	5.6	13,305	4,368	76.3	4.9	15.7	3.2				
Hispanic	634	4.0	12,799	4,096	77.8	3.0	16.5	2.7				
Other	589	3.7	24,269	8,070	85.1	3.2	10.7	1.1				
Source: Employee Benefit Res	search Institute e	estimates from the	e 2001 Survey	of Income an	nd Program Pa	rticipation Topica	I Module 7.					
* In 2003 dollars.												

Overall, 80.8 percent of the individuals who received a distribution received their most recent payment from a private-sector employer (Figure 7). The source of the distributions differed across certain characteristics. For example, in more recent years, there has been a sharp increase in the percentage of distributions coming from private-sector employers and a corresponding decrease in distributions originating from public-sector employers. Furthermore, males and those with the largest distributions received a significantly higher percentage of distributions from private-sector employers.

The decision to take a lump-sum distribution is not always up to the individual. Under federal regulations, private-sector plan sponsors can require workers to take a lump-sum payment at termination if the value of their retirement account is less than \$5,000, in order to avoid the administrative costs of small, inactive accounts.²⁹ Among lump-sum distribution recipients, 37.7 percent reported that they were required to take their most recent distribution, and 62.3 percent said that they took their most recent distribution voluntarily (Figure 8). The portion of those required to take the distribution is likely to decrease in the future, as the \$5,000 cut-off for allowable forced cashouts is not indexed for inflation

Figure 8

	How With	drawn?	Where Was Lump Sum Rolled Over to? ^b						
	Voluntarily	Plan	Plan at iob	Individual	Individual retirement	Othe			
Total	62.3%	37.7%	12.7%	7.2%	70.2%	9.9%			
Amount of Most Recen	t	0111/0	12.7 /0	1.270	10.270	0.070			
Lump-Sum Distributio	on ^a								
, \$1–\$499	31.3	68.7	6.3	7.7	57.0	29.0			
\$500-\$999	55.9	44.1	18.4	3.1	72.3	6.3			
\$1.000-\$2.499	50.5	49.5	12.4	5.7	74.6	7.3			
\$2.500-\$4.999	48.7	51.3	13.3	4.9	73.4	8.4			
\$5.000-\$9.999	57.4	42.6	18.5	4.7	65.9	11.0			
\$10.000-\$19.999	50.5	49.5	14.2	7.6	68.4	9.9			
\$20.000-\$49.999	59.7	40.4	12.4	9.8	67.8	10.0			
\$50.000 or more	68.0	32.1	8.6	8.5	73.3	9.7			
Year in Which Most Re	cent Lump-Su	m							
Distribution Was Rec	eived								
Before 1980	59.4	40.6	2.9	16.1	76.1	5.0			
1980–1986	60.0	40.0	9.8	7.1	67.3	15.9			
1987-1993	53.6	46.4	9.4	7.8	73.3	9.5			
1994–1998	58.3	41.7	13.4	6.7	69.7	10.2			
1999-2003	56.8	43.3	14.8	6.8	69.2	9.3			
Age of Recipient When	Most Recent	Lump-	-						
Sum Distribution Was	s Received	·							
16–20	19.1	80.9	11.6	0.0	88.4	0.0			
21–30	54.2	45.8	15.9	4.9	70.6	8.7			
31–40	54.2	45.8	17.0	6.1	67.2	9.8			
41–50	55.1	44.9	12.7	8.0	69.3	10.1			
51–60	66.0	34.0	5.9	7.9	74.4	11.8			
61–64	62.7	37.3	4.8	9.8	75.2	10.3			
65 and older	57.9	42.1	3.1	18.2	69.6	9.1			
Gender									
Male	58.9	41.2	12.8	7.1	69.9	10.2			
Female	54.8	45.2	12.6	7.3	70.5	9.6			
Race									
White	53.8	43.2	12.0	6.8	71.5	9.6			
Black	65.8	34.2	29.7	13.1	34.3	22.9			
Hispanic	53.8	46.2	17.6	5.8	67.4	9.3			
Other	52 1	48.0	13.9	12.7	65.7	7.8			

(although the threshold has been increased legislatively in the past and if done so again would alter a trend of fewer forced cashouts).³⁰ What workers are likely to do with these forced distributions will certainly be affected by EGTRRA, which stipulates that required lump-sum distributions of more than \$1,000 but less than \$5,000 must be placed in a rollover IRA unless otherwise requested. (This is scheduled take effect in early 2006.)

Individuals have choices of where to roll over their retirement assets and preserve their tax preference until retirement or withdrawal. They can roll over the assets to a plan at a new job if allowed by that plan, to an IRA, or to an individual annuity.³¹ The overwhelming choice for rollovers was an IRA, accounting for 70.2 percent of the most recent lump-sum distributions that were rolled. The next most likely choice was to roll over a distribution to a plan at another job, at 12.7 percent. Current distributions were more likely to have been rolled over to a plan at another job, increasing from 9.8 percent for distributions taken from 1980–1986 to 14.8 percent for those taken from 1999–2003.

Individuals electing an annuity made up the smallest group of those electing a rollover, at 7.2 percent. However, the percentage choosing an annuity did increase with age, reaching 18.2 percent for those ages 65 or older. Annuity use by date of the most recent distributions has remained essentially unchanged for those distributions taken from 1980 or after, at about 7 percent.

Not everyone who takes a lump-sum distribution rolls over those assets. They could use the money for various other reasons, such as starting a business, buying a home, obtaining higher education, paying off debts, or just spending the money. Through 2003, 46.7 percent of those taking a lump-sum distribution used at least some portion of the money for tax-qualified savings (another employment-based plan, IRA, or annuity), while 21.6 percent used at least some portion of it for consumption (Figure 9).³² The other most prevalent uses were buying a home, paying off debt, or starting a business (32.0 percent of lump-sum recipients used their distributions for these reasons). At least some portion of a lump-sum distribution is likely to be used for tax-qualified savings if the distribution is larger, the recipient is older (through age 60) at time of the distribution, male, white, or has annual earnings of \$30,000 or more.

For the most recent distributions (1999–2003), the likelihood of rolling over some portion of the lump sum decreased relative to that of those taken before 1999. Correspondingly, an increase occurred in the percentage of those using some of their lump-sum distribution for buying a home, paying off debt, or starting a business. Therefore, the more recent lump-sum recipients appear to be either forced to, or choose to, use the assets for a more immediate financial purpose rather than holding them for retirement—owing particularly to rising housing costs. Depending upon the choices, the effect cannot be assumed to be negative for retirement adequacy. For instance, an individual who uses these assets to purchase a home that he or she would not otherwise have could have a more secure retirement than someone who has assets at retirement but is required to pay rent monthly.

Among those using their entire lump-sum distributions for only one purpose, 43.4 percent rolled over the entire amount to tax-qualified savings (Figure 10). Approximately 12 percent used the entire distribution on consumption, while an additional 21.8 percent used their entire distribution for buying a home, paying off debt, or starting a business. Factors related to the use of the *entire* lump-sum distribution follow the same patterns as those related to the use of at least *some portion* of it.³³

The average loss of retirement assets from these most recent distributions among those individuals cashing out (not rolling over) their lump-sum distributions by the time they reach age 65 ranges from \$24,138 (assuming a 3 percent annual rate of return), \$40,972 (assuming a 5 percent annual rate of return) to \$179,483 (assuming a 10 percent rate of return). Despite these numbers being fairly small (except for the high-rate return value), these amounts could certainly make a difference in many individuals' retirements.

One alternative available to participants at job termination is to leave the assets in the former employer's plan until retirement or some other future date. This choice is generally not considered in the discussion of those who take a lump-sum distribution. Thus, the percentage of individuals who are preserving their assets until retirement or at least a future date tend to be understated by analyses that omit those who leave their assets in the plan.

Figure 9											
Uses of J	Uses of Any Fortion of Americans most Recent Lump-Sum Distributions, 2003										
	-	T 0 117 1	Non Tax-	Home,		Job Change					
	l otal	Tax-Qualified	Qualified	Business,	Education	Related	Constinu				
	(thousands)	Savings	Savings	or Debt	Expenses	Expenses	Consumption				
Total	(11005a1105)	16 7%	10.0%	22.0%	1 5%	6.0%	21 6%				
Amount of Most Recent L	umn-Sum Dietrik	40.7 %	10.0 %	32.0 %	1.5 %	0.2 /0	21.0%				
	005		47	20.2	24	2.5	25.2				
\$1-\$499 \$500 \$000	905	19.9	4.7	30.2	3.4	3.5	35.2				
\$300-\$999	000	20.0	7.0	40.1	0.7	9.9	20.9				
\$1,000-\$2,499	2,411	32.3	0.7	40.2	1.0	6.0	20.3				
\$2,500-\$4,999 \$5,000 \$0,000	2,230	30.0	9.2	34.4	1.5	0.1	20.0				
\$5,000-\$9,999	2,371	41.2	0.0	37.2	1.7	10.3	23.1				
\$10,000-\$19,999	2,437	49.1	11.0	35.1	2.1	0.3	10.0				
\$20,000-\$49,999	2,342	01.4	10.7	20.0	1.3	D.∠	17.5				
\$50,000 of more	2,422	74.4	13.7	14.2	1.0	2.4	12.1				
Year In Which Wost Recei	nt Lump-Sum										
Distribution was Receiv	ea	04.0	15.0	40.0	0.0	0.0	00.4				
Before 1980	701	24.0	15.8	40.3	2.0	0.0	30.4				
1980-1986	1,498	35.2	15.9	36.1	1.5	7.6	26.3				
1987-1993	3,058	49.3	9.9	29.8	1.4	6.2	21.1				
1994–1998	4,062	52.3	9.0	27.9	1.2	6.2	20.9				
1999–2003	6,664	47.2	8.8	33.6	1.7	5.8	20.2				
Age of Recipient When M	ost Recent Lum	р-									
Sum Distribution Was R	eceived						- / -				
16-20	195	16.4	11.1	25.5	2.9	10.3	51.0				
21–30	4,352	35.3	8.5	38.7	2.1	6.1	25.6				
31–40	4,747	46.8	7.3	35.0	1.8	7.9	20.1				
41–50	3,223	53.3	10.6	27.8	1.6	6.6	20.4				
51–60	2,119	60.3	12.6	24.2	0.2	3.2	17.5				
61–64	678	58.3	16.9	18.9	0.0	2.3	17.8				
65 and older	669	43.4	21.4	26.7	0.0	5.2	20.2				
Annualized Earnings in 20	003*										
No income	4,745	44.9	13.9	31.2	1.2	6.4	22.8				
\$1-\$5,000	418	36.0	6.2	42.2	2.0	6.6	26.5				
\$5,000–\$9,999	604	41.8	8.3	37.9	1.1	5.4	26.9				
\$10,000-\$14,999	606	42.8	6.9	35.4	0.6	5.8	19.9				
\$15,000-\$19,999	870	36.4	10.0	40.8	0.7	9.1	27.9				
\$20,000-\$24,999	1,126	39.0	9.3	36.6	3.8	5.9	23.0				
\$25,000-\$29,999	1,000	35.7	7.2	39.2	0.7	10.8	28.9				
\$30,000-\$49,999	3,310	46.0	9.7	31.5	2.1	6.4	21.8				
\$50,000 or more	3,305	61.7	7.3	24.4	1.3	3.6	14.0				
Gender											
Male	7,555	49.8	10.0	30.6	1.3	6.6	19.3				
Female	8,428	43.9	10.1	33.2	1.7	5.8	23.7				
Race											
White	13,861	49.3	10.2	30.5	1.5	5.6	20.1				
Black	900	23.5	11.9	44.0	2.0	12.8	38.6				
Hispanic	634	25.6	8.8	47.3	1.3	10.2	30.2				
Other	589	44.3	5.2	30.8	0.7	6.1	21.6				
Source: Employee Benefit Re	search Institute es of the reference mo	timates from the 200	1 Survey of Inco	ome and Program	Participation To	pical Module 7.					

Figure 10										
Uses of Entire	e Portion of A	mericans'	Most Recen	t Lump-Sum	Distributior	ıs, 2003				
	Tax-Qualified	Non Tax- Qualified	Home, Business	Education	Job Change Related					
	Savings	Savings	or Debt	Expenses	Expenses	Consumption				
Total	43.4%	6.2%	21.8%	0.8%	2.5%	11.9%				
Amount of Most Recent		012 / 0	2	0.070	210 / 0	1110 / 0				
Lump-Sum Distribution										
\$1-\$499	19.9	4.7	34.5	3.4	1.8	32.0				
\$500-\$999	25.5	6.5	33.0	0.7	7.2	18.0				
\$1,000-\$2,499	30.3	6.8	31.5	0.4	2.5	16.9				
\$2,500-\$4,999	36.5	5.6	24.4	1.0	3.0	17.6				
\$5,000-\$9,999	38.8	4.5	24.5	1.2	3.0	10.5				
\$10,000-\$19,999	45.0	6.3	21.9	0.4	2.5	7.7				
\$20,000-\$49,999	56.5	6.7	12.8	0.4	1.7	5.4				
\$50,000 or more	68.1	7.7	7.1	0.5	0.8	4.1				
Year in Which Most Rece	ent Lump-Sum									
Distribution Was Receiv	ved									
Before 1980	20.6	11.6	28.7	1.6	3.7	18.7				
1980–1986	30.9	8.9	24.3	34.0	3.1	15.4				
1987–1993	45.8	5.7	19.7	1.1	2.8	11.4				
1994–1998	48.0	5.5	18.8	0.7	2.3	12.2				
1999–2003	44.7	5.7	23.3	0.8	2.2	10.5				
Age of Recipient When N	Aost Recent Lump	-								
Sum Distribution Was F	Received									
16–20	16.4	5.8	15.5	2.9	6.9	37.2				
21–30	32.7	5.7	29.4	1.5	2.8	16.3				
31–40	44.1	4.1	23.2	0.9	3.6	9.9				
41–50	49.5	6.2	17.6	0.3	2.1	10.7				
51–60	55.5	7.4	14.0	0.2	0.6	7.5				
61–64	54.4	11.8	12.2	0.0	0.0	9.7				
65 and older	37.8	14.8	19.4	0.0	1.4	12.4				
Annualized Earnings in 2	2003*									
No income	40.6	8.9	20.2	0.5	1.7	12.5				
\$1-\$5,000	34.6	3.2	31.6	2.0	0.7	13.5				
\$5,000-\$9,999	37.1	5.6	24.3	0.0	2.1	15.0				
\$10,000-\$14,999	40.5	4.7	28.5	0.6	2.5	14.2				
\$15,000-\$19,999	31.2	5.7	27.7	0.2	3.0	14.3				
\$20,000-\$24,999	36.6	6.3	26.1	2.5	2.9	13.1				
\$25,000-\$29,999	31.8	4.4	25.0	0.4	6.2	14.7				
\$30,000-\$49,999	43.8	6.0	21.4	1.2	2.8	11.6				
\$50,000 or more	58.8	3.9	17.6	0.6	2.1	8.4				
Gender										
Male	47.0	6.3	20.8	0.7	2.6	9.9				
Female	40.2	6.1	22.7	0.9	2.4	13.7				
Race										
White	45.9	6.3	20.9	0.9	2.3	11.0				
Black	20.6	5.9	25.8	0.3	4.0	20.9				
Hispanic	21.4	7.3	33.5	0.0	4.3	15.5				
Other	43.4	4.4	23.8	0.7	3.0	16.1				
Source: Employee Benefit Re	esearch Institute esti	mates from the 2	2001 Survey of Inc	ome and Program	Participation Topic	al Module 7.				
*This is the monthly income of	of the reference mon	th of the respond	lent annualized or	multiplied by 12.						

As of 2003, 51 percent of workers who had retirement plan benefits at a previous employer received a lump-sum payment only, and another 11 percent received a lump-sum payment and retained some assets in a former employer's plan (Figure 11).³⁴ The remaining 38 percent of these workers had left their retirement benefits in their former job's plan only. This figure includes those who had a defined benefit or a defined contribution plan.

One of the most important factors in the decision to roll over a lump-sum distribution to another taxpreferred retirement savings vehicle is the size of the distribution. Thus, size would also be expected to be a factor in the decision to retain benefits in a previous employer's plan.³⁵ A close proxy can be derived from the SIPP data to investigate this issue. While lump-sum distribution recipients could have received a payment from either a defined benefit or a defined contribution plan, only those who had a defined contribution plan were asked the value of their plan at a previous job, and then were asked only the account balance at the time of survey, not at the time of job termination. With these caveats in mind, a comparison can be made (by lump-sum amount and account balance) of those who either received only a lump-sum distribution or who only retained their benefits. Among individuals with account balances and lump-sum amounts of less than \$5,000, the percentage who left their retirement plan benefits in a previous employer's plan ranged from 12.6 percent to 18.5 percent. For individuals with balances or distributions of \$5,000 or more, the percentage leaving their retirement plan benefits in a previous employer's plan ranged from 30.9 percent to 39.7 percent (Figure 12). Consequently, individuals with higher balances are not only more likely to roll over their lump-sum distributions to other tax-qualified savings, but also are significantly more likely to retain their benefits in a previous employer's plan.³⁶

Standard of Living

In addition to establishing how workers are currently preparing for retirement, it is also important to assess those in or near retirement to determine how effective the retirement system is at providing a secure financial retirement for the current near elderly and elderly. In order to provide an indication of how current elderly and near elderly (age 55 and older) Americans perceive that they are doing, SIPP includes a question asking these individuals to compare their current standard of living with the standard they maintained when they were in their early 50s. Their responses show that the majority is doing about the same or better now than when they were in their early 50s, with approximately three-fourths reporting that their standard of living is about the same or better (Figure 13).

While this relatively high percentage of older Americans who perceive they have been able to at least maintain their standard of living is fairly consistent across various demographic characteristics, some clearly are not doing as well. Among all Americans age 55 and older, divorced or separated individuals and those having family income below \$15,000 are more likely to report that their standard of living is much worse. Approximately 10 percent of divorced or separated individuals report their standard of living is much worse currently, compared with 6.7 percent of all individuals age 55 or older and 5.1 percent of married persons (Figure 14). Furthermore, more than 12 percent of those having family income below \$15,000 or more. Other groups that report they are doing disproportionately worse are minorities and those with less education. The age of the individual does not appear to be a factor until the oldest ages (85 or older), when the percentage of those being worse off increases significantly while the percentage of those doing much or somewhat better decreases.

Among those who said they retired from a job and are 55 or older, the percentage reporting that their standard of living is at least the same as it was in their early 50s was only slightly lower than the percentage for all those age 55 or older (Figure 13). The same differences that were reported for all Americans age 55 and older across the investigated demographic characteristics were also found among those who reported having retired from a job (Figure 15). The one significant difference among those who said they had retired from a job was that those ages 55–64 were significantly more likely to have reported that they were doing much worse than all Americans ages 55–64 (8.8 percent compared with 6.0 percent). This difference is



EBRI Issue Brief No. 289 • January 2006 • www.ebri.org



Figure 14												
Self-Reported Standard	Self-Reported Standard of Living Among Americans Age 55 or Older Relative											
to When They Were Age	s 50–54. bv	Various Den	nographic (Characterist	ics. 2003							
,	Much	Somewhat	About	Somewhat	Much							
	Better	Better	the Same	Worse	Worse							
All	14.7%	21.6%	40.3%	16.8%	6.7%							
Family Income												
Less than \$10,000	10.4	14.1	37.3	23.7	14.5							
\$10,000-\$14,999	7.7	16.4	41.2	22.0	12.8							
\$15,000-\$19,999	11.4	18.3	39.1	22.1	9.1							
\$20,000-\$24,999	11.8	18.0	41.4	21.4	7.4							
\$25,000-\$29,999	15.1	18.3	38.7	21.2	6.7							
\$30,000-\$49,999	15.0	22.8	42.4	14.6	5.3							
\$50,000 or more	19.2	26.9	40.0	11.1	2.8							
Gender												
Male	15.5	22.3	40.3	15.7	6.2							
Female	14.0	20.9	40.3	17.7	7.1							
Race												
White	14.6	21.7	41.0	16.3	6.4							
Black	11.3	21.4	38.4	19.7	9.2							
Hispanic	15.8	19.2	34.4	22.7	8.0							
Other	22.1	22.5	41.1	9.4	5.0							
Education												
Less than HS diploma	13.2	17.8	37.8	21.2	10.1							
HS diploma	13.2	22.1	41.4	16.9	6.4							
Some college	15.2	21.8	39.3	17.2	6.6							
Bachelor's degree	17.6	23.2	41.2	13.5	4.6							
Graduate degree	18.4	26.1	44.4	8.4	2.7							
Age	-	-		-								
55-64	14.1	23.7	41.2	15.1	6.0							
65–70	16.4	21.6	39.6	15.7	6.7							
71–75	16.2	18.8	38.4	19.8	6.7							
76–84	14.4	20.0	38.7	19.4	7.5							
85 or older	11.2	16.2	45.0	17.6	10.1							
Marital Status												
Married	16.1	23.2	40.6	14.9	5.1							
Widowed	11.9	19.3	38.9	20.5	9.4							
Divorced or separated	13.7	18.6	38.1	19.5	10.1							
Never married	9.8	16.7	49.7	17.4	6.5							
Source: Employee Benefit Research Institu	ite estimates of the	2001 Survey of Inco	me and Program	Participation								
Topical Module 7.		,	0									

likely attributable to the availability of health insurance. (This is not as significant a concern for those ages 65 or older, for whom Medicare is virtually universal.)

The availability of health insurance coverage and the existence of pension income (traditional defined benefit annuity payments) are two significant factors in retirees' ability to maintain their standard of living. In 2003, 19.3 percent of Americans age 55 or older reported having health insurance in their own name from a former employer (Figure 16).³⁷ However, for those who reported they had retired from a job, 38.1 percent had health insurance from their former employer in their own name (Figure 16). The level of health insurance coverage from a former employer differed significantly across various demographic characteristics. Individuals who were more likely to have this coverage were those with more family income, more educational attainment, or male. In addition, those who were younger were more likely to have health care coverage, with 48.4 percent of those ages 55–64 having the coverage, compared with 36.8 percent for next highest age group (ages 65–70). However, the higher rate for the 55–64 age group is not likely to make up for the lack of other health insurance (Medicare), which covers those age 65 or older, as other options for those ages 55–64 are not easily obtainable, particularly for those in poor health.

Figure 15										
Americans Age 55	or Older \	Who Said Th	ey Have R	etired From	a Job					
Self-Reported Star	ndard of L	iving Relati	ve to Whei	n They Were	Ages					
50–54, by V	arious De	mographic	Characteri	stics, 2003						
	Much	Somewhat	About	Somewhat	Much					
	Better	Better	the Same	Worse	Worse					
All	15.0%	20.2%	39.3%	18.1%	7.5%					
Family Income										
Less than \$10,000	9.2	13.2	34.4	27.0	16.3					
\$10.000-\$14.999	7.9	14.9	41.1	23.3	12.9					
\$15.000-\$19.999	11.7	18.2	37.3	23.2	9.6					
\$20.000-\$24.999	12.6	16.9	41.4	20.6	8.5					
\$25.000-\$29.999	16.2	17.5	37.7	21.4	7.3					
\$30,000-\$49,999	15.3	21.9	42.1	15.5	5.2					
\$50,000 or more	21.0	25.4	38.2	11.8	3.6					
Gender		-		-						
Male	15.7	20.2	39.8	17.1	7.2					
Female	14.2	20.1	38.6	19.3	7.9					
Race										
White	15.2	20.2	40.2	17.3	7.0					
Black	11.1	19.0	36.4	21.5	12.0					
Hispanic	15.2	19.1	28.5	28.0	9.2					
Other	20.1	24.1	38.6	13.4	3.9					
Education										
Less than HS diploma	12.9	17.0	36.7	22.8	10.5					
HS diploma	13.0	20.8	39.9	19.0	7.4					
Some college	16.0	19.8	37.7	19.0	7.5					
Bachelor's degree	18.4	21.1	41.3	14.0	5.2					
Graduate degree	19.7	25.0	44.4	7.0	3.9					
Age										
55–64	13.8	21.2	38.4	17.8	8.8					
65–70	15.9	21.9	40.5	15.6	6.2					
71–75	17.6	18.4	37.5	19.9	6.6					
76–84	14.4	19.7	39.1	19.4	7.4					
85 or older	11.9	17.2	43.2	18.4	9.4					
Marital Status										
Married	16.5	21.7	39.7	16.3	5.8					
Widowed	12.0	18.9	38.4	20.7	10.0					
Divorced or separated	14.1	15.5	35.1	22.9	12.4					
Never married	10.3	15.0	49.0	19.4	6.3					
Source: Employee Benefit Resea	rch Institute est	imates of the 200 ⁻	Survey of Inco	me and Program						
Participation Topical Module 7.			-							
· · · ·										

Figure 16 Percentage of Americans Age 55 or Older Who Have Pension Income or Health Insurance From a Former Employer in Own Name, by Retirement Status and Various Demographic Characteristics, 2003

		All Ages 55 or C	Dider	Those	Those Said They Retired From a Job				
	Total	Have pension Income	Have health insurance from a former employer in own name ^a	Total	Have pension Income	Have health insurance from a former employer in own name ^a			
	(thousands)			(thousands)					
All	61,329	36.1%	19.3%	31,093	59.6%	38.1%			
Family Income									
Less than \$10,000	6,356	12.4	5.9	2,928	17.1	12.8			
\$10,000-\$14,999	5,276	30.7	11.3	2,967	37.5	20.1			
\$15,000-\$19,999	5,714	37.9	16.3	3,264	48.6	28.6			
\$20,000-\$24,999	5,309	41.7	20.7	3,051	59.4	36.1			
\$25,000-\$29,999	4,362	42.5	23.1	2,522	63.7	40.0			
\$30,000-\$49,999	14,029	43.7	25.0	7,826	69.4	44.9			
\$50,000 or more	20,283	36.4	21.3	8,535	76.0	50.7			
Gender									
Male	27,478	43.8	28.9	16,664	68.2	47.7			
Female	33,851	29.9	11.6	14,429	49.6	27.1			
Race									
White	49,802	38.2	20.6	26,035	60.9	39.3			
Black	5,279	33.6	18.1	2,681	55.9	35.7			
Hispanic	4,073	22.0	9.4	1,581	48.3	24.2			
Other	2,176	22.1	12.5	796	52.0	34.1			
Education									
Less than HS diploma	13,594	29.6	10.8	6,674	46.0	21.9			
HS diploma	19,872	36.3	18.3	10,147	57.0	35.8			
Some college	14,779	36.7	20.3	7,522	60.7	39.9			
Bachelor's degree	7,757	38.4	25.5	3,917	70.9	50.5			
Graduate degree	5,326	47.2	33.4	2,834	82.6	62.7			
Age									
55–64	27,234	22.4	14.0	7,871	66.9	48.4			
65–70	11,201	44.2	24.7	7,505	58.2	36.8			
71–75	8,442	48.0	24.9	5,957	57.1	35.2			
76–84	10,816	50.0	23.8	7,377	57.5	34.8			
85 or older	3,636	45.7	16.7	2,384	52.5	25.5			
Marital Status									
Married	38,230	34.8	20.9	19,580	62.8	40.9			
Widowed	12,794	46.4	16.3	6,842	52.6	30.5			
Divorced or separated	7,849	26.4	16.2	3,403	54.8	37.5			
Never married	2,455	33.5	19.9	1,268	61.4	38.5			
Source: Employee Benefit Rese	arch Institute esti	mates of the 2001 S	Survey of Income and	Program Particip	ation Topical Modu	le 7.			
^a The question only asked the in	ndividuals who reti	red from a job if the	y had health insurance	e from their form	er employer. Conse	quently, this does			
not report those who receive thi	s coverage as a d	ependent, so the nu	umber receiving insura	nce through an e	employer is under-c	ounted.			

not report those who receive this coverage as a dependent, so the number receiving insurance through an employer is under-counted.

Pension income is another important factor in maintaining retirees' standard of living. In 2003, just over 59 percent of those ages 55 or older who said they had retired from a job received pension income, while 36.1 percent of all Americans age 55 or older received pension income (Figure 15).³⁸ Again, the existence of pension income varies across individual characteristics. In particular, male, college educated, younger (if retired from a job), and individuals with higher family income were more likely to have pension income.

To determine the effect of these two factors on individuals' current self-reported standard of living, the percentage of those age 55 or older and retired from a job having pension income or health insurance from a former employer is examined for each standard-of-living response. Focusing on those age 65 or older who had retired from a job, 64.0 percent of those who reported their standard of living was much better had pension income, compared with 45.2 percent of those reporting their standard of living was much worse having pension income (Figure 17). The difference is more pronounced among those ages 55–64: 68.3 percent of those reporting their standard of living their standard of living with 45.8 percent of those reporting their standard of living was much worse having pension income, compared with 45.8 percent of those reporting their standard of living was much worse having pension income. This represents a one-third difference in the percentage with pension income between the two groups.

Concerning health insurance in one's own name (i.e., the primary beneficiary) from a former employer, 44.1 percent of those who reported their standard of living was much better had this insurance, while 25.8 percent of those who said their standard of living was much worse had it (Figure 18). In this case, the percentage decline in having health insurance in one's own name between the much better and much worse categories was larger for those age 65 and older, with a 45.5 percent difference. The 55–64 age group showed a 35.7 percent difference between the two categories. This seems to reinforce the finding that for those age 55 or older, health insurance in addition to, or in the absence of, Medicare is a significant factor in the ability to maintain one's standard of living in retirement.

Another potential factor affecting the retirement standard of living in an era of increased availability of lump-sum distributions is the retention of lump-sum distributions through rollovers to other tax-deferred accounts. A significantly higher percentage of those who spent their lump-sum distributions entirely reported their standard of living as being somewhat or much worse than was reported by those who had rolled over their entire distribution (24.5 percent compared with 16.2 percent) (Figure 19).³⁹ This may be because those who spend their lump-sum distributions do not plan for retirement and consequently are worse off in old age, or because spending the lump-sum distribution left these individuals without resources they needed to maintain their standard of living in older age. In both cases, the percentage who reported being much worse was fairly small, but the consequences of spending lump-sum distributions highlight the fact that those who took a lump-sum distribution and spent it entirely were approximately 50 percent more likely to describe their standard of living as being somewhat or much worse than was reported by all of those age 55 or older who rolled over their assets. This issue is expected to become increasingly troublesome, as more individuals who reach age 55 will have been faced with making a decision concerning a lump-sum distribution.

The ultimate decisions workers make on what to do with rollover assets will have a significant impact on the likelihood that retirees will be able to cover the same level of expenses throughout retirement. In a study using the EBRI-ERF Retirement Security Projection Model®, this impact was quantified, specifically by looking at how much additional savings individuals would need to save to have a 75 percent chance of covering the same level of living costs throughout their retirement years. It found that if everyone annuitized all their account balances, individuals would need to save a median amount of 25–35 percent less than would need to be saved under current annuity utilization (VanDerhei and Copeland, 2004). This level varies by the family composition, birth year, and the lifetime income quartile of an individual. For example, single women, born from 1941–1945 and having lifetime income in the third quartile of those birth years, would have a median reduction in savings needs of approximately 26 percent, compared with the approximate median 35 percent reduction for single women born from 1961–1965 with lifetime income in the third quartile (Figure 20).





EBRI Issue Brief No. 289 • January 2006 • www.ebri.org





Conclusion

Slightly more than one-half of all wage and salary workers are participating in an employment-based retirement plan at their current job. Furthermore, approximately one-third of wage and salary workers participate in a salary reduction or 401(k)-type plan. The same worker and employer characteristics affect both overall participation in a plan and the decision to participate in a salary reduction plan. In particular, workers who earn less, are younger, are members of minority groups, have shorter job tenure, are female, are less educated, are not covered by a union, or work for a small employer all have lower overall participation levels, as well as eligible participation rates (except for workers at large employers and public-sector workers having lower eligible participation rates in salary reduction plans). Consequently, focusing on these groups offers the greatest potential to increase workers' chances of having some type of retirement plan during their working lives.

Data on the participation of workers in a current job do not give a full picture of those who have participated or will have participated in a plan by retirement. Workers change jobs and make different decisions regarding retirement plan participation over their careers. On an historical basis, workers ages 51–60 have approximately a 73 percent probability of having ever participated in an employment-based plan. Thus, the extent of employment-based retirement plan use over workers' lifetimes is significantly greater than the current overall participation rate of roughly 50 percent.

However, many workers do not always secure these potential benefits for retirement because they fail to preserve lump-sum distributions when they change jobs or retire. Many of the groups that have lower participation rates appear to be the same ones that are not securing these benefits. These workers need to be educated on the importance of saving their benefits for retirement, or they will be faced with significantly lower standards of living in retirement or will depend on public welfare to help them financially during this period.

While having pension income is important, it is not all that individuals need for a financially secure retirement. In particular, as health care expenditures continue to grow in importance for retirees, some form of health insurance to supplement Medicare, or cover individuals until they are eligible for Medicare, is of utmost importance. As shown in the section on the near elderly and elderly's standard of living relative to when they were in their early 50s, the incidence of both pension income and health insurance from a former employer has a significant impact on retirees' ability to maintain their standard of living.⁴⁰ In addition, the finding that those who spent their entire most recent lump-sum distribution are likely to have a much worse standard of living in retirement than those who roll over their most recent distribution shows the importance of retaining any retirement plan benefits for retirement.

While rolling over assets is important for retirement security, it is only the first step, as determining how the assets are used in retirement is the next step in ensuring retirement security. If assets are drawn down too fast, retirees may have to significantly reduce their standard of living as they age, or frugal retirees may reduce their standard of living below what it needs to be. When doing the "draw-down" calculation to figure out how much a retiree can afford to spend each year, understanding life expectancy is critical. Life expectancy is not the age at which all individuals will die, but the *average* death age for a group of individuals. Therefore, roughly speaking, half of the group will die *before* the life expectancy, and half will die *after*. Consequently, individuals face longevity risk—the risk of living longer than expected—which means that many individuals would need to save more than what is needed for just living to life expectancy. A product that insures against longevity risk—an annuity—has not been used to a very significant extent, as shown in Figure 8, despite its potential to reduce the median additional savings needed to cover the same level of expenses throughout retirement, as shown in Figure 20. Thus, many individuals are not currently protecting themselves against longevity. This may not be problematic for *today*'s retirees, given that Social Security is paid as an annuity and most traditional defined benefit plans have been paid as annuities. However, as significantly more dollars for retirement are accumulated in individual account plans (without an automatic annuity option), and as retiree health coverage declines with the steady erosion of defined benefit plans, protection from longevity risk will become a much more important factor for retirees.

Preparing for retirement has become a lifetime endeavor both during individuals' working years and their retirement years. Otherwise, working will have to be a lifetime endeavor, or retirees will be left with much lower standards of living when the preparation fails, health status declines, or overspending occurs.

Appendix

This study in most cases focused on results from the 2001 SIPP with the exception of the retirement plan history section, where changes from the 1996 SIPP were discussed. In this appendix, longer trends for the most important trends are examined across various demographic and worker characteristic categories. The employee benefit supplements to the Current Population Survey (CPS) in May 1988 and April 1993 asked essentially the same questions prior to being added to SIPP in the 1996 Panel, so trends from 1988, 1993, 1998, and 2003 are presented. However, caution should be used from 1993 to 1998 because of the movement in the questions from the CPS to SIPP.⁴¹ The overall results for these trends were presented in the September 2005 *EBRI Notes*, but the examination across the demographic/worker characteristic categories are presented in this study. The work force studied in this appendix is a smaller work force—specifically, because agricultural workers are excluded—than that presented in the body of the report due to data limitations of the earlier data sets.

Participation Level. In general, the participation level across the worker characteristics increased from 1988 to 1993, but then declined in 1998 before an increase in 2003 (Figure A1). However, a couple of significant exceptions resulted in the participation levels among workers in the smaller firms, as they had a continuous increase in this percentage from 1988 to 2003. Furthermore, individuals with low levels of tenure also experienced this continuous increase.

Primary Plan. The choice of primary plan shifted from defined benefit to defined contribution from 1988 to 2003 (Figure A2). In 1988, 25.8 percent of employment-based retirement plan participants considered a defined contribution plan to be their primary plan. By 2003, this number had increased to 57.7 percent. This increase in primary defined contribution plans was virtually universal. However, the shift was significantly slower for those working in the public sector or in a union-covered job.

Salary Reduction Plans. The percentage of workers who participated in a salary reduction plan increased considerably from 1988 to 2003 (Figure A3). This was reflected across all of the categories examined, with participants in the public sector having a much flatter increase.

Contribution Rates. The percentage of earnings contributed to a salary reduction plan showed a slight increase, from 1993 to 2003 (Figure A4). The overall levels increased from 7.1 percent in 1993 to 7.5 percent in 2003. This upward trend was the predominant trend across the examined categories. Given the sample sizes, only those working for smaller employers showed a statistically significant decline from 1998 to 2003, while workers from the largest employers showed a slight increase.⁴² Otherwise, the significant changes were increasing.

Overall Trends Compared With Other Surveys. The overall trend in participation levels in this study contradicts the results from those found from the March Current Population Survey. The March CPS shows a decline in the percentage of wage and salary workers participating in an employment-based retirement from 1998 to 2003, while the SIPP showed an increase (Figure A5). This was just the opposite of the trends found between 1993 and 1998 between the two surveys. Further examination cannot determine precisely the cause of the discrepancy in the results, but survey differences both in timing and methodology are important factors in these results. Regardless of the trends, both surveys essentially reveal that only half of wage and salary workers are currently participating in an employment-based retirement plan. For a further discussion of the differences in the results between SIPP and the March CPS, see Copeland (2005c) and Purcell (2005).

Figure A1 Civilian Nonagricultural Wage and Salary Workers, Aged 16 and Over, Sponsorship Rate and Participation Rate, by Various Characteristics, 1988, 1993, 1998, and 2003

	Total Workers (thousands)			Sponsorship Rate				Participation Level				
	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003
Total	101,744	105,815	116,958	123,573	63.1%	64.4%	65.0%	67.9%	47.7%	49.3%	47.2%	51.5%
Annual Hours												
1–999	8,170	8,461	8,713	9,271	35.1	39.2	41.4	45.6	7.6	8.8	11.8	14.6
1,000-1,499	7,459	8,085	9,718	10,071	48.6	49.5	46.7	49.2	24.8	24.0	19.1	21.0
1,500-1,999	11,374	12,355	13,629	14,393	61.5	61.5	59.7	61.2	43.9	44.7	37.5	40.5
2,000 or more	66,498	68,614	84,898	89,838	72.0	73.0	70.3	73.4	59.2	61.1	55.6	60.4
Tenure	,	,										
Less than 1 year	19.478	19.643	24.439	22.600	42.5	41.3	52.7	54.4	14.8	12.1	21.3	24.9
1-4 years	33.888	34.345	39,581	43.676	57.2	58.1	60.4	64.2	38.0	37.8	38.1	43.0
5–9 vears	17,140	21,167	20,908	23,459	73.9	71.6	68.9	71.6	64.4	63.0	57.7	60.9
10–14 years	10.944	11.380	13,172	12,919	80.1	79.2	74.3	76.6	74.2	74.3	67.1	69.1
15 or more years	15.884	17.552	18.859	20.920	84.9	85.6	79.6	80.9	81.1	81.8	74.3	76.3
Age	,	,	,	,	••				• • • •			
16-20	8.373	6.634	8.013	7,309	32.1	33.6	40.5	39.7	6.3	3.7	6.7	5.1
21-30	28 895	26,359	26,361	26 449	59.0	58.8	59.4	61.4	38.7	35.9	32.6	37.0
31-40	27 710	31 047	31 581	29,440	69.9	68.3	69.2	71.2	55.8	55.4	53.6	56.8
41-50	19 453	23 459	28 853	31 775	70.9	72.9	72 0	73.5	61.2	63.5	60.1	62.6
51-60	12,393	13 164	16 141	20 753	69.6	69.8	69.5	75.6	60.2	62.0	59.5	64.9
61-64	2 631	2 781	2 020	20,700	61.3	64.0	62.2	68.3	52 1	5/ 1	10.0	54.6
65 or older	2,001	2 371	2,020	3 613	45.8	47 1	45.5	52.3	28.5	30.4	23.3	27.7
Firm Size (by number of e	mnlovees)	2,071	0,000	0,010	40.0	47.1	40.0	52.0	20.5	00.4	20.0	21.1
Fewer than 25	21 726	22 100	2/ 827	26.843	10.6	20.2	27 /	21.2	1/ 2	15 /	18.3	23.7
25 00	10 244	12 001	12 512	12 625	50 /	20.2 40.6	27.4 51.4	57.6	25.5	26.0	25.1	20.7 11 1
20-99 100 or moro	12,044 59 771	62 494	50 220	61 605	92.6	49.0 94.0	77.0	70.6	64.9	66 0	54.0	41.4 59.0
Appuel Eerpinge (1002 ¢)	50,771	02,404	59,550	01,095	03.0	04.9	11.0	79.0	04.0	00.2	04.2	56.0
Annual Earnings (1993 \$)	7 505	7 075	0.075	0 406	00.0	20.2	20.0	10.0	4 1	27	10.6	10.0
Less man \$5,000	10,110	1,210	9,075	10,400	20.3 20.5	30.3	39.0	42.9	4.1	3.7	12.0	13.3
\$5,000-\$9,999	10,119	10,419	13,181	12,783	38.5	40.9	44.0	47.1	13.9	14.2	18.2	21.3
\$10,000-\$14,999	12,463	15,015	16,771	15,414	52.1	51.0	53.6	54.2	30.9	30.8	30.1	31.2
\$15,000-\$19,999	13,658	14,238	15,180	16,938	63.6	65.7	64.1 70.0	63.9	46.6	47.5	44.0	44.7
\$20,000-\$24,999	10,956	12,408	13,214	14,017	73.0	75.8	70.6	72.4	58.6	63.2	53.8	56.6
\$25,000-\$29,999	9,841	9,737	11,247	12,046	77.0	78.3	76.0	75.9	64.7	67.3	61.7	63.3
\$30,000-\$49,999	20,993	19,858	22,544	25,317	84.5	85.4	80.5	83.0	75.7	77.9	69.5	73.0
\$50,000 or more	7,876	8,566	12,068	15,755	86.8	88.1	82.3	85.9	78.8	82.9	74.6	79.3
Gender												
Male	54,764	55,582	61,192	64,386	64.9	64.6	65.6	67.6	52.0	52.0	50.1	53.5
Female	46,980	50,233	55,766	59,186	61.0	64.1	64.3	68.3	42.7	46.3	44.0	49.3
Union Status												
Union covered	19,335	18,498	17,193	16,671	90.9	90.0	88.1	90.7	80.7	80.3	76.7	80.7
Not union covered	82,408	87,317	99,765	106,902	56.5	59.0	61.0	64.4	40.0	42.7	42.1	46.9
Industry												
Mining	712	648	620	432	73.3	74.4	74.4	73.4	63.5	68.5	60.6	65.7
Construction	5,591	4,858	5,842	7,012	36.5	36.7	43.7	46.6	29.5	30.9	33.5	36.3
Manufacturing	21,211	18,809	19,745	16,764	75.7	76.1	74.2	76.5	61.6	63.4	59.7	64.5
Transportation, commu	unications,											
utilities	6,036	6,490	6,681	6,924	70.5	72.9	71.6	74.6	58.2	60.9	56.4	58.7
Wholesale trade	4,109	4,426	4,757	4,662	61.5	60.1	62.6	67.9	46.2	48.8	47.3	54.3
Retail trade	17,015	18,175	19,937	20,569	39.4	43.9	49.6	54.2	22.3	25.5	24.4	29.7
Finance, insurance,												
real estate	7,186	6,927	7,029	7,736	73.4	73.7	71.4	74.3	54.3	56.2	52.9	58.2
Professional services	13,324	16,346	20,118	23,666	59.6	66.1	65.5	68.6	39.1	44.8	45.5	49.8
Other services	9,509	10,629	12,943	14,252	31.6	32.4	45.7	51.6	18.9	20.6	27.5	35.5
Public	17,052	18,496	19,288	21,400	92.9	90.9	85.8	86.9	77.9	76.5	71.3	73.8
Race			-									
White	87,923	90,654	98,659	103,326	63.2	64.5	65.3	68.1	47.9	49.9	48.0	52.1
Black	10,754	11,622	13,217	13,964	63.1	64.7	64.8	67.3	46.8	46.5	43.5	48.2
Other	3.067	3.539	5,082	6,284	60.2	60.1	58.5	65.9	45.5	43.7	40.6	48.7
	,	,	,	,			-		-		-	

Source: Employee Benefit Research Institute estimates of the May 1988 and April 1993 Current Population Survey employee benefit supplements and the 1996 and 2001 Panel of the Survey of Income and Program Participation Topical Module 7.

Note: Total participants will not add up in the income category as some participants income was indeterminable from the data and firm size has exlcuded publicsector workers.

Figure A2 Reported Primary Retirement Plan Type Among Civilian Nonagricultural Wage and Salary Workers, Age 16 and Over, Who Participate in a Retirement Plan, by Selected Demographic Characteristics, 1988, 1993, 1998, and 2003

	Total Participants (thousands)			Defined Benefit Plan				Defined Contribution Plan				
	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003
Total	48,553	52,179	55,172	63,576	56.7%	38.2%	46.3%	40.5%	25.8%	49.8%	51.5%	57.7%
Annual Hours												
1–999	625	750	1,027	1,355	48.2	39.3	44.8	35.8	32.0	51.5	48.1	60.5
1.000-1.499	1.851	1.940	1.856	2.114	55.4	44.6	45.8	42.3	23.8	42.0	48.3	55.0
1,500-1,999	4,998	5,518	5,116	5,832	53.8	44.1	52.2	45.8	27.6	42.3	44.8	52.0
2.000 or more	39.345	41.889	47.173	54.276	57.8	37.7	45.7	40.0	25.3	50.8	52.5	58.3
Tenure	,	,	, -	- , -								
Less than 1 year	2.886	2.371	5.210	5.618	46.8	27.7	41.1	35.6	22.3	54.5	53.1	60.4
1–4 years	12.866	12.978	15.060	18.799	46.8	31.1	39.2	34.8	31.3	57.0	57.8	62.6
5–9 years	11.040	13.328	12.058	14.275	55.2	35.4	42.6	37.3	28.5	52.2	55.9	61.0
10–14 years	8.125	8.451	8.842	8.930	60.3	37.8	48.4	42.7	25.4	49.4	50.0	56.3
15 or more years	12,880	14.351	14.002	15,954	68.3	49.4	57.6	50.7	19.1	40.7	41.5	48.7
Age	,	,	,	,				••••				
16-20	525	244	533	371	53.1	32.4	46.6	25.3	20.9	44.1	52.3	73.1
21-30	11,168	9.456	8,604	9,792	49.9	31.0	36.9	35.9	30.1	55.3	60.3	62.4
31-40	15 472	17 189	16 922	16,998	55.2	35.6	41.5	37.6	26.9	53.0	56.3	60.6
41-50	11 905	14 902	17 332	19 900	59.8	42.2	50.5	42.0	24.6	47.0	47.4	56.0
51-60	7 460	8 160	9 605	13 477	63.7	42.8	54 1	45.0	20.5	44.3	44.0	53.2
61-64	1 371	1 506	1 454	2 037	65.7	48.8	52.8	41.6	10.8	40.7	45.1	57.1
65 or older	653	722	721	1,000	56.6	40.0 40 Q	50.1	47.2	22.8	40.7 AA A	48.3	52.4
Firm Size (number of employ		122	721	1,000	50.0	40.0	50.1	77.2	22.0		40.0	52.4
Fewer than 25	3 095	3 4 5 6	4 537	6 363	41 1	33.7	31.0	22.7	33.4	51.6	65.0	75 3
25_00	3,033 1 377	1 648	4,337	5.643	41.1	31.1	28.0	10.5	34.5	57.0	60.8	78.8
23-39 100 or more	38 106	4,040	32 1/3	35 776	47.0 50.6	30.7	20.9	20.3	24.5	10.2	61.6	70.0 60.1
Appual Earpings (1992 \$)	30,100	41,301	32,143	35,770	59.0	39.7	30.0	29.5	24.3	49.2	01.0	09.1
Loce than \$5,000	210	267	1 1/6	1 100	50.2	29 5	45.7	25.5	20.2	61.9	50 T	62.0
¢5 000 ¢0 000	1 406	1 476	0.202	0,706	50.2	20.0	40.0	40.0	20.3	44.9	JZ.7	54.0
\$5,000-\$9,999	2 946	1,470	2,393	2,720	50.7	35.3	49.9	42.9	20.2	44.3	40.0 52.7	50.0
\$10,000-\$14,999	3,040 6.050	4,030	5,041	4,011	51.0	35.3	44.1	39.1	20.0	43.9	55.7	59.9
\$15,000-\$19,999	6,009	0,700	7 100	7,072	54.5	30. I 40. 1	43.5	37.0	20.0	49.4	54.9	57.0
\$20,000-\$24,999	0,424	7,030	7,100	7,930	55.2	40.1	47.2	40.4	20.1	47.3	50.5 40.7	57.9
\$25,000-\$29,999	15 007	0,007	15 660	10,030	59.4	37.7	40.1	42.7	23.0	50.1 49.0	49.7	55.2 55.7
\$30,000-\$49,999	10,097	7 100	15,009	10,409	59.9	42.1	47.0	42.3	24.0	40.9	49.0	55.7
\$50,000 or more	6,204	7,103	9,003	12,500	57.9	36.4	43.5	39.0	27.4	57.2	54.0	59.0
Gender	00 407	00.007	00.040	04.400	F7 0	00.4	447	07.0	05.0	50 7	50.0	00.0
	28,487	28,927	30,643	34,422	57.9	38.1	44.7	37.8	25.6	50.7	53.3	60.6
	20,066	23,252	24,529	29,154	55.0	38.4	48.3	43.7	26.0	48.7	49.3	54.2
Union Status	45.040	44.050	10 105	40.450	07.0		00.0	00.0	10.0	00.0	00 F	05.0
Union covered	15,610	14,852	13,195	13,452	67.2	54.4	66.9	62.3	18.3	33.2	30.5	35.8
Not union covered	32,943	37,328	41,977	50,124	51.7	31.8	39.8	34.7	29.3	56.4	58.2	63.6
Industry	450		070					10.0				~~ -
Mining	452	443	376	386	56.9	24.6	28.6	19.3	31.1	66.0	68.3	80.7
Construction	1,650	1,504	1,957	2,544	46.8	41.6	39.3	27.8	34.5	40.9	58.2	71.7
Manufacturing	13,075	11,929	11,786	10,811	59.3	35.4	36.7	29.6	23.1	53.0	62.4	69.3
I ransportation, communic	cations											
utilities	3,513	3,955	3,767	4,063	62.9	36.6	41.3	29.2	22.8	52.9	57.7	68.9
Wholesale trade	1,897	2,160	2,251	2,533	49.3	23.9	27.3	19.9	31.7	64.6	71.0	78.0
Retail trade	3,786	4,628	4,857	6,107	50.3	28.2	31.3	25.9	28.2	55.1	67.5	72.6
Finance, insurance,					_				_	_		_
real estate	3,900	3,892	3,718	4,499	50.0	26.9	35.4	26.3	31.3	64.3	63.2	71.8
Professional services	5,207	7,318	9,151	11,777	47.4	34.5	37.0	29.8	31.3	52.0	59.8	67.8
Other services	1,799	2,194	3,556	5,061	39.9	22.3	28.2	21.5	34.1	66.2	69.0	77.0
Public	13,275	14,154	13,752	15,794	64.6	53.9	79.5	80.5	21.5	35.0	17.2	17.3
Race												
White	42,125	45,232	47,354	53,790	56.6	38.5	44.9	39.7	26.3	50.4	52.9	58.5
Black	5,033	5,402	5,755	6,725	58.8	37.4	58.2	47.9	21.4	43.6	39.2	50.4
Other	1,395	1,545	2,062	3,061	54.1	33.2	43.1	38.2	24.9	53.7	55.0	60.3

Source: Employee Benefit Research Institute estimates of the May 1988 and April 1993 Current Population Survey employee benefit supplements and the 1996 and 2001 Panel of the Survey of Income and Program Participation Topical Module 7.

Note: The defined contribution and defined benefit columns do not add to 100%. Primary plan type other/don't know/unreported makes up the difference. Total participants will not add up in the income category as some participants income was indeterminable from the data and firm size has exlcuded public-sector workers.

Among Civilian r	vonagr	icultura	i wage	and Sa	iary wor	kers Ag	e 16 and	Over, 19	988, 199	93, 1998	, and 20	103
	5	Sponsorsh	ip Rate			Participati	on Rate	,	,	Primary	Plan	
-	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003	1988	1993	1998	2003
Total	26.9%	36.8%	45.9%	49.9%	15.3%	23.8%	29.1%	34.9%	7.5%	17.4%	22.4%	28.3%
Annual Hours												
1–999	6.3	12.5	27.1	28.5	1.5	3.9	6.4	9.5	1.1	2.8	4.9	8.5
1,000–1,499	13.8	20.0	32.0	34.2	5.6	8.1	10.4	13.3	3.2	6.2	8.6	10.9
1,500–1,999	23.6	30.6	39.0	43.3	13.3	17.6	20.2	25.0	6.8	12.6	15.5	20.2
2,000 or more	33.5	45.3	50.5	55.0	19.7	30.7	35.0	41.5	9.4	22.4	26.9	33.7
Tenure												
Less than 1 year	12.8	18.9	39.0	40.8	3.3	5.3	12.5	16.8	2.3	4.5	10.3	14.5
1–4 years	24.0	32.5	43.7	48.1	12.1	18.5	24.4	29.7	7.6	15.1	20.4	25.7
5–9 years	32.5	43.7	48.7	53.2	20.2	31.2	36.8	42.1	10.5	24.1	29.6	35.5
10–14 years	36.9	48.3	51.3	54.6	24.6	36.4	41.2	46.5	10.5	26.0	31.1	37.3
15 or more years	41.1	50.7	52.5	57.1	28.1	38.0	43.4	50.1	9.5	23.4	28.3	35.2
Age												
16-20	6.4	9.6	27.8	25.0	1.1	1.2	4.4	3.9	0.9	1.0	3.3	3.5
21-30	24.6	32.7	44.6	46.8	11.9	16.9	21.3	25.5	7.3	13.7	18.1	22.2
31–40	32.1	42.0	50.9	53.5	18.0	28.0	34.9	39.1	8.7	21.6	28.3	32.8
41–50	32.6	43.0	48.9	54.5	20.8	30.5	35.4	42.2	9.0	20.7	26.0	33.5
51–60	29.0	38.6	46.3	54.4	20.3	28.7	34.9	43.6	8.3	19.3	24.2	33.1
61–64	21.3	34.0	40.5	46.7	13.8	25.4	28.4	36.4	6.2	16.3	20.3	29.9
65 or older	13.0	20.9	27.6	30.7	7.0	11.6	11.5	16.3	4.4	7.5	9.4	12.8
Firm Size (by number of em	ployees)											
Fewer than 25	4.9	7.7	18.6	24.3	3.5	5.5	11.0	18.1	2.7	4.6	9.7	16.6
25–99	15.9	24.8	38.7	47.1	9.2	16.6	24.9	33.4	6.5	13.7	22.5	31.0
100 or more	39.1	51.4	61.1	65.7	22.1	33.3	39.5	45.9	10.0	23.9	31.7	38.6
Annual Earnings (1993 \$)												
Less than \$5,000	3.8	8.1	27.2	27.7	1.1	1.6	7.3	9.0	0.8	1.4	6.0	8.0
\$5,000-\$9,999	8.8	13.1	29.6	32.5	2.6	4.4	10.3	13.6	1.5	3.6	8.2	11.3
\$10,000-\$14,999	15.3	22.7	37.5	39.9	5.6	10.0	17.5	20.4	4.1	7.9	14.6	17.7
\$15,000-\$19,999	22.2	35.7	45.7	47.1	10.3	19.5	26.3	29.9	6.2	15.3	21.9	25.9
\$20,000-\$24,999	30.2	43.9	48.1	52.7	15.5	26.7	30.8	37.0	8.6	20.7	24.5	31.3
\$25,000-\$29,999	35.4	46.5	52.8	55.7	20.0	31.1	36.8	41.7	10.0	23.7	28.5	33.4
\$30,000-\$49,999	43.9	57.1	57.5	60.9	27.8	41.3	43.8	49.0	12.6	28.9	32.4	38.7
\$50,000 or more	55.4	67.6	62.0	67.3	40.9	56.3	51.9	58.9	15.6	37.5	37.8	45.2
Gender												
Male	28.1	38.5	47.4	50.8	17.2	26.4	32.0	37.9	8.3	19.1	24.8	31.0
Female	25.4	34.9	44.3	48.9	13.1	20.8	25.9	31.7	6.6	15.6	19.9	25.5
Union Status												
Union covered	35.4	45.6	51.7	55.2	19.1	27.0	36.1	41.7	7.5	16.7	21.0	27.1
Not union covered	24.9	34.9	44.9	49.1	14.4	23.1	27.9	33.9	7.5	17.6	22.7	28.5
Industry			00 4		~~~~	40 5	40.4		10 5	05.0	~~~~	
Mining	39.4	53.9	60.4	68.8	28.0	43.5	46.4	62.7	16.5	35.9	38.0	52.9
Construction	10.4	14.4	29.8	35.7	7.7	10.6	19.9	26.6	4.7	8.5	16.9	24.0
Manufacturing	34.9	48.6	59.6	65.2	21.2	35.6	43.9	52.4	9.4	25.2	35.5	43.2
I ransportation, commun	ications,									-		
utilities	36.3	51.0	59.0	63.6	24.1	36.3	42.5	48.1	9.1	24.7	30.4	39.4
Wholesale trade	24.6	36.5	50.7	57.3	16.4	27.5	36.3	44.3	9.3	23.0	31.7	40.5
Retail trade	11.4	20.4	38.2	42.7	5.9	10.8	17.7	23.5	3.5	9.0	15.4	20.7
Finance, insurance,												
real estate	41.0	52.8	58.1	65.0	25.6	36.0	40.7	48.7	12.7	28.3	31.3	40.5
Professional services	23.6	35.6	47.6	53.8	11.2	20.7	29.0	36.6	7.1	15.8	24.5	31.9
Other services	12.8	20.1	35.8	42.3	7.3	13.1	20.2	28.6	4.9	10.7	17.8	26.0
Public	38.7	45.8	39.0	38.4	19.4	26.2	23.3	25.1	8.4	16.9	10.3	11.8
Race							a		_ =			
White	27.3	37.5	46.5	50.4	15.9	24.6	30.0	35.6	7.7	17.9	23.4	29.0
Black	23.6	31.7	42.6	47.2	10.6	17.0	23.7	30.3	6.0	13.1	16.2	23.5

and 2001 Panel of the Survey of Income and Program Participation Topical Module 7.

Figure A4

Average Employee Contribution Rate to Salary Reduction Plans, Nonagricultural Wage and Salary Workers Age 16 and Over, by Selected Characteristics 1993, 1998, and 2003

	Average Contribution Rate				
	1993	1998	2003		
Total	7.1%	7.4%	7.5%		
Annual Hours					
1–999	8.9	10.4	10.7		
1,000–1,499	7.0	9.5	8.7		
1,500–1,999	7.3	7.8	7.5		
2,000 or more	7.0	7.3	7.4		
Tenure					
Less than 1 year	6.6	8.2	7.6		
1–4 years	6.9	7.2	7.3		
5–9 years	6.8	7.3	7.5		
10–14 years	7.0	7.2	7.6		
15 or more years	7.8	7.8	7.8		
Age					
16–20	4.9	6.4	7.1		
21–30	6.3	6.8	6.8		
31–40	6.6	7.2	7.3		
41-50	7.6	7.5	7.6		
51-60	8.0	8.2	8.2		
61–64	9.1	9.1	8.2		
65 or older	8.3	7.9	9.1		
Firm Size (by number of employees)	0.0		011		
Eewer than 25	81	82	75		
25-99	6.8	7.3	6.9		
100 or more	71	7.0	7.6		
Annual Farnings (1993 \$)	7.1		7.0		
Less than \$5,000	79	13.1	12.5		
\$5 000_\$9 999	7.5	10.1	10.5		
\$10,000-\$3,333	6.4	8.4	83		
\$15,000-\$14,999	5.8	73	79		
\$10,000 \$10,000	6.3	7.0	7.5		
\$25,000 \$29,000	6.8	7.2	7.1		
\$20,000 \$40,000	0.0	7.1	7.1		
\$50,000-\$49,999 \$50,000 or more	7.4	6.7	7.2		
Gonder	7.5	0.7	7.0		
Malo	73	75	77		
Fomolo	7.3	7.5	7.7		
Linion Status	7.0	7.4	7.5		
Union covored	77	75	7.6		
Net union covered	7.7	7.5	7.0		
	7.0	7.4	7.5		
Mining	7 5	7 5	0.1		
Construction	7.5	7.5	0.1		
Monufacturing	0.0	7.3	7.5		
	0.0	7.1	1.1		
inansponation, communications,	7 4	0.0	7 6		
	7.4	8.0	7.5		
Deteil trade	7.0	7.9	7.5		
	0.9	1.1	1.2		
Finance, insurance,	0.7	0.0	7.0		
	0./	0.0	1.3		
Contexpensional services	7.9	7.6	7.b 7.0		
Outler services	<u>ь.9</u>	8.U	7.8		
Public	7.3	7.3	7.5		
Hace	74	7.5	7.0		
vvriite	7.1	7.5	7.6		
BIACK	7.5	6.6	6.2		
Uther	8.0	7.5 pril 1000 Occurrent	8.5		
Source: Employee Benefit Research Institute	esumates of the A	pril 1993 Current	I.		
Panel of the Survey of Income and Program F	Participation Topic	al Module 7.			
e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e					



References

Copeland, Craig. "IRA and Keogh Assets and Contributions." *EBRI Notes*, no.1 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, January 2006): 1–6.

. "Lump-Sum Distributions." *EBRI Notes*, no. 12 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, December 2005a):

. "Employment-Based Retirement Plan Participation: Geographic Differences and Trends, 2004." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 286 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, October 2005b).

____. "Retirement Plan Participation: Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) Data." *EBRI Notes*, no. 9 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, September 2005c): 2–11.

____. "Individual Account Retirement Plans: An Analysis of the 2001 Survey of Consumer Finances." *EBRI Issue Brief,* no. 259 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, July 2003).

____. "Retirement Plan Participation and Features, and the Standard of Living of Americans 55 or Older." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 248 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, August 2002a).

____. "An Analysis of the Retirement and Pension Plan Coverage Topical Module of SIPP." *EBRI Issue Brief,* no. 245 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, May 2002b).

- Fronstin, Paul, and Dallas Salisbury. "Health Care Expenses in Retirement and the Use of Health Savings Accounts." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 271 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, July 2004).
- Fronstin, Paul. "Retiree Health Benefits: Trends and Outlook." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 236 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, August 2001).
- Gustman, Alan L., and Thomas L. Steinmeier. "Imperfect Knowledge, Retirement, and Saving." Paper presented at The Third Annual Conference of the Retirement Research Consortium, Making Hard Choices About Retirement. Washington, DC, May 17–18, 2001.
- Helman, Ruth, and Variny Paladino. "Will Americans Ever Become Savers? The 14th Retirement Confidence Survey, 2004." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 268 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, April 2004).
- Holden, Sarah, and Jack VanDerhei. "401(k) Plan Asset Allocation, Account Balances, and Loan Activity in 2004." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 285 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, September 2005a).

. "The Influence of Automatic Enrollment, Catch-Up, and IRA Contributions on 401(k) Accumulations at Retirement." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 283 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, July 2005b).

- KPMG. Retirement Benefits in the 1990s: 1998 Survey Data. KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, July 1998.
- McDonnell, Ken. "Retirement Annuity and Employment-Based Pension Income." *EBRI Notes*, no. 2 (Employment Benefit Research Institute, February 2005): 7–14.
- Miller, Lynn. "The Ongoing Growth of Defined Contribution and Individual Account Plans: Issues and Implications." *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 243 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, March 2002).
- Profit Sharing/401(k) Council of America. 47th Annual Survey of Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plans. Profit Sharing/401(k) Council of America, 2004.
- Purcell, Patrick. "Participation in Retirement Plans: Findings from the Survey of Income and Program Participation." CRS Reports for Congress (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, Oct. 5, 2005).
- Sabelhaus, John. "Projecting IRA Balances and Withdrawals." *EBRI Notes*, no. 5 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, May 1999): 1–4.
- Sailer, Peter and Sarah Holden. "Use of Individual Retirement Arrangements to Save for Retirement— Results from a Matched File of Tax Returns and Information Documents for Tax Year 2001." Presented at the 2004 American Statistical Association Meetings, 2004.

- Sailer, Peter J. and Sarah E. Nutter. "Accumulation and Distribution of Individual Account Arrangements, 2000." *SOI Bulletin* (Internal Revenue Service, Statistics of Income Division, Spring 2004): 121–134.
- VanDerhei, Jack, and Craig Copeland. "ERISA at 30: The Decline of Private-Sector Defined Benefit Promises and Annuity Payments? What Will it Mean?" *EBRI Issue Brief*, no. 269 (Employee Benefit Research Institute, May 2004).

Endnotes

¹ Not all of the assets in individual retirement accounts (IRAs) come from rollovers from employment-based plans, as individuals can directly contribute to them. Sabelhaus (1999) showed that the overwhelming majority of the increases in IRA assets during the mid to late 1990s were from rollovers and investment gains—*not* direct contributions. See Copeland (2006) for the most recent level of IRA assets and data on the sources of the growth in IRA assets.

² The 2001 Panel of the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, follows the same households for a three-year period, asking various questions on their economic and demographic status. Survey participants are interviewed at four-month intervals about a core set of demographic and economic issues. In addition, topical modules ask more specific questions about important economic issues. Topical Module 7, fielded in January–April 2003, asked questions about workers' participation in retirement and/or pension plans. For more information about the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), see www.bls.census.gov/sipp/ (last accessed December 1, 2005).

³ Age 16 or older is used to give the broadest analysis of the current participation of workers in employment-based plans. For those ages 21–64, the ages that most closely correspond to individuals' prime working years, the sponsorship rate, participation rate, and vested rate were 69.6 percent, 54.7 percent, and 50.2 percent, respectively.

⁴ The participation level is the percentage of wage and salary workers who participate in an employment-based plan regardless of whether an employer or a union sponsors it. The eligible participation rate, discussed later in this study, is the percentage of workers who are eligible to participate in a plan and do so. Participation level is different from the commonly used participation rate, in that the participation is the fraction of the studied work force that participates in a plan regardless of their eligibility. Participation rate is used exclusive for the determining the percentage of the eligible participants who participate.

⁵ See Copeland (2005c) for results on participation levels from the Current Population Survey (CPS) and for comparisons of the CPS with other datasets. See also Copeland (2005b) for the most recent results from the CPS on employment-based retirement plan participation.

⁶ The remaining 1.8 percent were in plans that could not be determined from the data set.

⁷ In SIPP, participants are asked about their most important pension or retirement plan: The question asks if your plan's "benefit is defined by a formula usually involving your earnings and years on the job," are "contributions made by you and/or your employer going into an individual account for you," or if "your employer contributes a value equal to a percent of vour earnings each year and there is a rate of return on that contribution. This type of plan is sometimes called a cash balance plan." The first (as well as the third) describes a defined benefit plan, while the second describes a defined contribution plan. The survey also contains follow-up questions describing specific features of the most important plan. In some cases, the answers are in conflict with the type of plan that the worker has. Consequently, the estimates of the pension/retirement plan type in this study combine answers from these questions to determine the type of workers' plan. In the determination of plan type, the answer to the "plan type" question was the initial classification. However, respondents who answered that their most important plan allowed tax-deferred contributions and that their employer's contributions depended upon the workers' contributions, that they had the ability to choose how any of the money in the plan was invested, or that they had taken or could take a loan from their plan (characteristics virtually exclusive to defined contribution plans in the private sector) were added to the defined contribution category, if they were not already there for those in the private sector. Moreover, any respondents who said that their benefit was affected by their participation in the Social Security program were classified as having a defined benefit plan. Lastly, any who did not answer that they participated in a plan until the follow-up question on participating in a tax-deferred plan were considered to have a defined contribution plan. If the questions are not combined and only the pension plantype question is used, 51.0 percent reported that they were in a defined benefit plan (plan based on earnings and years on the job or cash balance plan), compared with 43.3 percent who reported being in a defined contribution plan

(individual account plan). The remainder was indeterminate from this variable. For a further discussion of plan type determination using SIPP, see Copeland (2005c). Also see Gustman and Steinmeier (2001) for a discussion of the difficulty individuals experience in correctly identifying their plan types and the value they can expect from them.

⁸ These plans have also been referred to as 401(k)-type plans in other EBRI publications. For example, see Copeland (2003). The contributions could be either before or after the calculation of income taxes.

⁹ One exception to plans in which workers become participants only by choice would be plans that have qualified nonelective contributions (QNECs)— to which an employer contributes to a salary reduction plan regardless of whether the employee contributes or not. However, employees are still allowed to make contributions from their earnings as well.

¹⁰ This agreement to participate or contribute can be tacit or overt, as some plans have automatic enrollment, where workers are enrolled automatically once they meet the eligibility requirements unless they opt out. Generally, workers must opt in once they meet the eligibility requirements; otherwise, they will not be participants. See Holden and VanDerhei (2005b) for a further discussion on automatic enrollment in 401(k) plans.

¹¹ Those reasons considered as making the individual ineligible to participate include: no one in job type allowed, do not work enough hours, and have not worked long enough at the employer. The remaining reasons are considered as reasons for the individual being eligible but choosing not to contribute. These reasons include: cannot afford to contribute, do not want to tie up money, have not thought about it, other specific reasons for not contributing (spouse has pension plan, respondent has an IRA or other pension plan, do not need it, don't plan to stay in job long enough, employer does not contribute or contribute enough, too close to retirement, and too young), and other nonspecified reasons.

¹² A similar result was found in the 2004 Retirement Confidence Survey, where 42 percent said they did not contribute to a employment-based when offered, because they cannot afford to or they need the money for current obligations (Helman and Paladino 2004).

¹³ This is significantly higher than the eligible participation rate of 74.8 percent in 401(k)-type plans found for family heads in the 2001 Survey of Consumer Finances (SCF) in Copeland (2003). Furthermore, the numbers reported for participation in 401(k) plans from large plan administrators have ranged from 67 percent to 75 percent. There are several factors that lead to the estimate in this study being biased upwards. First, in SIPP the plan types included are not as clearly defined as 401(k) plans from the actual plan administrators, so plans that are noncontributory or other defined contribution plans that are not 401(k) plans (such as SIMPLEs and SEPS) are being picked in some cases, increasing the eligible participation rate. Furthermore, some individuals who are not contributing may not know that their employer even offers a plan or they do not know that they are eligible—further biasing the participation rate upward. Therefore, the eligible participation rate in this study provides a benchmark for participation, not the definite participation rate for 401(k) plans, due to the limitations of data from individual respondents relative to actual recordkeeping data. This 2003 eligible participation rate is consistent with results for 1998 from the 1996 SIPP, as it is virtually unchanged from the 1998 rate of 81.4 percent Copeland (2002a).

¹⁴ This result is difficult to understand as various surveys on 401(k) plans show that about 97 percent of plans allow at least some of their investments to be directed by the participant (Profit Sharing/401(k) Council of America, 2004). A KPMG (1998) survey revealed that only 82 percent of participants in 403(b) plans could direct their investments. However, even when factoring out public-sector workers from the SIPP data, among participants who worked for a private-sector company and specifically answered yes to the question concerning participation in a salary reduction plan, only 79.2 percent said they could direct at least some of their investments. Yet, as discussed before, the salary reduction plans included in this study are more than just 401(k) plans even in the private sector. These types of plans typically have less flexibility than 401(k) plans.

¹⁵ The fact that public-sector plan participants are less likely to direct their investments could be explained by the results in endnote 8, which indicate that 403(b) plan participants were less likely to be able to direct their investments. A 403(b) plan is only allowed in educational, religious, or charitable organizations, which includes public schools (grades K–12) and public universities. Consequently, the percentage of public-sector workers in 403(b) plans is larger than in the private sector, as employees of public schools and universities constitute a significant percentage of the publicsector work force.

¹⁶ This may explain or be explained by the finding that union-covered and public-sector workers are less likely to participate in a plan to which the employer contributes, as these types of workers have a high percentage of defined benefit plan participation.

¹⁷ For a detailed examination of 401(k) account balances and loans from 401(k) plans, see Holden and VanDerhei (2005a).

¹⁸ It is possible that an employer could make a plan less generous in order to offer an additional plan, so that in total the employee is no better off by having two plans than by having one more generous plan.

¹⁹ The decline in the percentage of individuals older than age 60 who have retirement plan benefits through a current or previous job can be largely attributed to the fact that the data only include individuals who have retirement benefits from a previous employer but have not started to receive those benefits. Many individuals over age 60 who had benefits from a previous employer have begun to receive them and are either working to supplement this payment or not working. Therefore, these cases would not be reflected in the data. Furthermore, those who did not have retirement plan benefits from a previous or current job are more likely to still be working, because they are unlikely to have sufficient sources of income to live on otherwise.

²⁰ The decline in plan participation among individuals over age 60 can be explained by the fact that those in jobs who had a plan prior to reaching that age are more likely to retire than those without a plan. Consequently, for this age group, those without a plan are the ones most likely to still be working. Thus, the percentage participating declines relative to the younger age group, in which all the members are more likely to be actively engaged in the work force.

²¹ This continued into 2000 and 2001 as well with rollovers adding the most to the IRA asset level, and changes in market value being the source of the largest declines in these assets. See Sailer and Holden (2004) and Sailer and Nutter (2004).

²² In own name refers to an IRA established by the surveyed individual, not by his/her spouse or other relative.

²³ The data do not allow determination of what percentage of these are rollover IRAs.

²⁴ The SIMPLE IRA (Savings Incentive Match Plan for Employees) was created under the Small Business Job Protection Act (SBJPA) for employers with 100 or fewer employees.

²⁵ This does not include those who made a nondeductible contribution. The incidence of nondeductible contributions was not considered in this dataset. In 2001, Roth IRA contributions were \$11.116 billion and nondeductible traditional IRA contributions were \$2.418 billion, according to the most recent Internal Revenue Service tabulations (Sailer and Holden 2004).

²⁶ This section discusses all workers, including the unincorporated self-employed, whereas the previous section on employment-based plan participation (Figure 6) was only concerned with wage and salary workers, which does not include the unincorporated self-employed. Consequently, the increase is not as dramatic in only wage and salary workers were the focus in this section. However, the sections are examining slightly different issues as only wage and salary workers can have the retirement plans referred to in that section, while all workers potentially could participate in either an employment-based plan, an individual retirement account, or a Keogh plan.

²⁷ The one group of workers this does not include is those who had an IRA at one time but no longer had one at the time of the data collection. The survey only asks about historical participation in employment-based plans.

²⁸ The Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act (EGTRRA) of 2001 had numerous other provisions for employment-based retirement plans, including increasing portability between plan types and increasing the levels that can be contributed to these plans.

²⁹ The 1984 Retirement Equity Act raised the threshold from \$1,750 to \$3,500 and the 1997 Taxpayer Relief Act increased it to the current \$5,000. EGTRRA (enacted by Congress in 2001) requires employers who cash out accounts between \$1,000 and \$5,000 at job termination to automatically roll over the assets into an IRA unless specifically requested otherwise by the participant. This provision is to become effective early next year.

³⁰ The legislative change of particular importance is the increased value of the cutoff for allowable forced cashouts. Since future lump-sum distributions will be based upon the \$5,000 threshold or a higher amount if increased again by legislation, the number of individuals faced with the lower thresholds would decline in this calculation of required versus voluntary distributions. For instance, for lump-sum distributions taken through 1998, 40.4 percent were required and 59.6 percent were voluntary. See Copeland (2002a) for more on lump-sum distributions through 1998.

³¹ The question in SIPP allows for the answers: plan on a job, individual annuity, IRA, or other. It is not clear what falls in the other category except for possibly a joint or survivor annuity or cannot remember. There is not a breakdown among the potential sources in the other category from the survey. ³² Consumption includes purchases of consumer items (car, boat), medical and dental expenses, general everyday expenses, and other spending.

³³ For further analysis of lump-sum distributions from this dataset, see Copeland (2005a).

³⁴ A study by Fidelity Investments of the plans they administer found that 56 percent of the plan participants whose employment terminated in 2000 left their assets in the former employer's plan (Miller, 2002). However, this percentage did not account for those who removed their assets after year-end 2000. The SIPP dataset permits an examination of those leaving their assets in a plan after termination relative to a longer time frame.

³⁵ In fact, the Fidelity study (Miller, 2002) showed that among 401(k) participants with less than \$10,000 in their accounts, 48 percent left their assets in the plan, compared with 68 percent of those with an account balance of \$50,000–\$99,999.

³⁶ This suggests that, when the percentage of individuals who leave their benefits in their previous employer's plan is added to the percentage of those who roll over their entire lump-sum distribution to tax-qualified savings, 79.9 percent of individuals with an account balance of \$50,000 or more appear to preserve their assets for retirement. This percentage is calculated by adding the 36.9 percent of participants with a balance of \$50,000 or more who leave their assets in a previous employer's plan to the 68.1 percent (from Figure 12) of those 63.1 percent who take a lump-sum distribution of \$50,000 or more and rolled over the entire amount of the distribution, or 36.9 percent plus (68.1 percent times 63.1 percent) equals 79.9 percent. (The Fidelity study (Miller, 2002) reported that from 70 percent to 78 percent of participants with balances of \$50,000 or more either completely rolled over their lump-sum distribution or left their assets in their account.) This would suggest that as account balances increase fewer assets will "leak" from the retirement system.

³⁷ The question of having health insurance from a former employer was only asked of those who reported they had retired from a job, so this percentage does not include anyone receiving this coverage as a dependent. According to Fronstin (2001), among retirees ages 55–64 who had health insurance from an employer, approximately 60 percent had it in their own name. Therefore, this section will focus only on those who said they have retired from a job.

³⁸ This is similar to the 35.7 percent found from Current Population Survey data on the percentage of Americans age 65 or older receiving pension and annuity income in 2003 (McDonnell 2005).

³⁹ This difference is even larger for those age 65 or older, as 11.6 percent of those whose most recent distribution was entirely rolled over reported that their standard of living was much or somewhat worse now than it was in their early 50s, compared with 28.0 percent of those who spent their entire most recent lump-sum distribution.

⁴⁰ See Fronstin and Salisbury (2004) for discussion of the cost of health care insurance for retirees.

⁴¹ The questions in the Retirement and Pension Plan Coverage Topical Module of SIPP had been asked previously in the employee benefit supplements to the Current Population Survey (CPS) in May 1988, and April 1993 prior to their inclusion in SIPP in the 1996 Panel. While these data sets have similar questions, they are not identical nor are the methods the surveys use—for instance, the CPS interviewed all of its respondents in a single month, while SIPP was conducted over a four-month period. Specifically, in both the 1996 Panel and the 2001 Panel of SIPP, respondents are interviewed every four months (a wave) on a rotating basis, and the topical modules, which are a set of more specific questions on various topics, are asked of the reference month of the survey, which is the last month of each four-month cycle (wave). The survey participants are divided into four groups, so each group has a different reference month. The results in this *Issue Brief*'s appendix are presented as trends, but caution should be used when drawing conclusions from the results due to the survey differences. Typically, different surveys yield different results. Therefore, while certain trends can be ascertained, it is important to note that a portion or all of any trend may be due to the differences in the surveys. However, the data for 1998 and 2001 are both from SIPP, so the differences from 1998 to 2003 should not be driven by survey differences. Despite these caveats, these datasets provide the most comparable results for these trends.

⁴² Not all salary reduction plan participants from the 2001 had the complete data needed for calculating this number, because either the earnings or the contributions was not determinable. Just over 11 percent of the sample of salary reduction participants is eliminated because of this issue. The 1996 SIPP had a similar issue. See Copeland (2005c) and Copeland (2002b) for more details.



Employee Benefit Research Institute

EBRI Employee Benefit Research Institute 2121 K Street, NW, Suite 600 Washington, DC 20037-1896 Phone: (202) 659-0670 / Fax: (202) 775-6312 / E-Mail: <u>info@ebri.org</u> Copyright 1996 - 2005. Employee Benefit Research Institute. All rights reserved. EBRI ® and Employee Benefit Research Institute ® are registered trademarks of the Employee Benefi Research Institute.

Created by Matrix Group International, Inc. ®

EBRI Issue Brief

EBRI Employee Benefit Research Institute Issue Brief (ISSN 0887–137X) is published monthly by the Employee Benefit Research Institute, 2121 K Street, NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20037-1896, at \$300 per year or is included as part of a membership subscription. Periodicals postage rate paid in Washington, DC, and additional mailing offices. POSTMASTER: Send address changes to: *EBRI Issue Brief*, 2121 K Street, NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20037-1896. Copyright 2006 by Employee Benefit Research Institute. All rights reserved, No. 289.



 $oldsymbol{W}$ hat we do



The Employee Benefit Research Institute (EBRI) was founded in 1978. Its mission is to contribute to, to encourage, and to enhance the development of sound employee benefit programs and sound public policy through objective research and education. EBRI is the only private, nonprofit, nonpartisan, Washington, DC-based organization committed exclusively to public policy research and education on economic security and employee benefit issues. EBRI's membership includes a cross-section of pension funds; businesses; trade associations; labor unions; health care providers and insurers; government organizations; and service firms.

EBRI's work advances knowledge and understanding of employee benefits and their importance to the nation's economy among policymakers, the news media, and the public. It does this by conducting and publishing policy research, analysis, and special reports on employee benefits issues; holding educational briefings for EBRI members, congressional and federal agency staff, and the news media; and sponsoring public opinion surveys on employee benefit issues. **EBRI's Education and Research Fund** (EBRI-ERF) performs the charitable, educational, and scientific functions of the Institute. EBRI-ERF is a tax-exempt organization supported by contributions and grants.

EBRI Issue Brief is a periodical providing expert evaluations of employee benefit issues and trends, as well as critical analyses of employee benefit policies and proposals. **EBRI Notes** is a periodical providing current information on a variety of employee benefit topics. **EBRI's Pension Investment Report** provides detailed financial information on the universe of defined benefit, defined contribution, and 401(k) plans. **EBRI Fundamentals of Employee Benefit Programs** offers a straightforward, basic explanation of employee benefit programs in the private and public sectors. **EBRI Databook on Employee Benefits** is a statistical reference volume on employee benefit programs and work force related issues.



Contact EBRI Publications, (202) 659-0670; fax publication orders to (202) 775-6312. Subscriptions to *EBRI Issue Briefs* are included as part of EBRI membership, or as part of a \$199 annual subscription to *EBRI Notes* and *EBRI Issue Briefs*. Individual copies are available with prepayment for \$25 each (for printed copies) or for \$7.50 (as an e-mailed electronic file) by calling EBRI or from www.ebri.org. *Change of Address:* EBRI, 2121 K Street, NW, Suite 600, Washington, DC 20037, (202) 659-0670; fax number, (202) 775-6312; e-mail: Publications Subscriptions@ebri.org. *Membership Information:* Inquiries regarding EBRI membership and/or contributions to EBRI-ERF should be directed to EBRI President/ASEC Chairman Dallas Salisbury at the above address, (202) 659-0670; e-mail: salisbury@ebri.org

Editorial Board: Dallas L. Salisbury, publisher; Steve Blakely, editor. Any views expressed in this publication and those of the authors should not be ascribed to the officers, trustees, members, or other sponsors of the Employee Benefit Research Institute, the EBRI Education and Research Fund, or their staffs. Nothing herein is to be construed as an attempt to aid or hinder the adoption of any pending legislation, regulation, or interpretative rule, or as legal, accounting, actuarial, or other such professional advice.

EBRI Issue Brief is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. ISSN: 0887-137X/90 0887-137X/90 \$.50+.50

© 2006, Employee Benefit Research Institute–Education and Research Fund. All rights reserved.